
HISTORY OF LANCASTER COUNTY'S HIGHWAY SYSTEM 

(From 1714 to 1760) 

By H. FRANK ESHLEMAN 

The writer purposes to set forth and to discuss h erein, a history of 
the roa ds and ·highways of Lancaster County, Pennsylvania from 1714 
to 1760, that being the scope of the records of the said roads contained 
in Doclrnts Nos. 1 a nd 2 (re-copied ) of the Court ·of Quarter Sess10ns of 
the said County. Of course, the county not being in existence, prior to 
17 29, the only evidence and history of the existence of roads here, prio e 
to that date, are found in the · references made by petitioners for roads 
etc., stating how long such roads have been in u se as "customary roads" 
etc. The.n , too, part of the history, w h.ich shall follow, has been co llected 
from the Road Records of Chester County, which contain the road pro­
ceedings in the laying out of several of our early roads , while we were 
part of Chester County. Such records go baclc to 1719. 

We shall find in these records several references to "customary 
roads." These were roads, which sprang into being simply by being us­
ed as needed roads, without any legal proceding being first resorted to in 
01:,der to Jay out the· same. There is no doubt that there was, from the b e­
ginning, a considerable n et-work of such roads and that many of those 
customary roads, have been in existance and in use to this day and have 
long since ripened into legal roads. "Old Peter's Road" was one of 
these. I shall also m ention others as we go forward with this dis..:u s ­
sion. It will b e apparent, also, that when the term of twenty-one ye:1rs 
was well running alon g , at the end of which the "customary roads" wouh1 
become " lega l roads," m a ny land owners began to fence up the wagon 
tracks or roads over thei r land and required the public to apply in n. 
lawful manner, to h ave roads la id out. Several instances which will fol­
low, in this paper, will prove thi-s. It is noticeable, also, that the Scotch­
Irish of Lower Lancaster County were more active in having roads laid 
out early than the Swiss were. Their tracts were not so large as those of 
the Swiss Mennonites of the central belt of the County. The cutting 
of their land was more k eenly felt. They were more inclined to stand 
on · their rights also. The Mennonite farms, containing 250 or 500 or 
1000 acres, with allowances and generally r ectangular or at least fre­
quently so, the boundary lines of . the farms were convenient places r'or 
"customary" driving. Then , too, the Swiss s eem ed much inclined to be 
neighborly among· themselves a nd among their neighbors and accom mo-
dated one another without resort to legal process. · 

I desire, also to make it esp ecially prominent that, practically all the 
roads laid out here, were called for (in the petitions to Court, to h ave 
them surveyed, etc.,) for the purpose of access to churches and to mills. 
Next , in importance to these two objects, was the desire of access to marlc­
ets. These three purposes and desires were the rea sons for practically 
all of the early roads la id out. The mill was the most frequent r eason 
given and the church next. The markets of Lancaster, Phi!adelphin, 
Christiana Bridge, near Wilmington, and of North East, at h ead of Chesa­
peake and of such places as Rock Run in Maryland, etc., were the ot­
jective points for purposes of trade. 
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Among the prominent mills were Buckley's and Moore's Brothers on 
Octoraro; Smith's (afterwards Groff's) ·on B eaver Creek about New Pro­
v idence ; Jacob Bear's (afterwards Myers') on Carter's Creelt, at Oregon, 
Ab ey's, Stoneman's and others. These dete rmined several roads. One 
or two forges h a d dete rmining influences also. 

The Episcopal and Presbyterian Churches a lso, put in calls for roads. 
The M ennonites did not appear to do so, though they had more churches 
than all other sects in the early days. 

There are no calls at all, for any roa ds to get to "public houses" or 
taverns. And yet the public houses w er e among the most valuable and 
n ecessary places , u sed for tra nsaction of public business, twenty y ears 
l a t er in the R evolutiona ry W a r times . The r eason is evident. There 
w e r e no public houses of note until after the roads were first in existenG,~. 
When the roads were well esta blished, then the public houses spra ng up . 
on them , to accomoda te those who used the highways. 

N early all the towns of our county owe their existence and pla<'.e of 
location to the mills and churches, which called the roa ds into being a nd 
which w er e important places at the t ermini of the roads. The villages 
s p rang up at the t e rmini a nd at the inte rsection •of these roa ds (w hen 
th e rO"ads came into existence ) and along their routes. This w e should not 
forge t. The mill was the most important improvement, at the b eginning 
of our s ettlement in a civil sense and the millers were the lords of th<' 
land. We notice also, that the mills w ere not numerously built on the 
largest streams where the greater power could be had, but on the tribu­
taries and on the smaller head waters. It was too costly to build d a m$ 
on great streams and then, to, the r e was more fa.ll in the tributaries and 
toward the head of the streams, farth er up stream. 

This treatise is accompanied by a map, illustrating where the 9 3 
roads to be herein discussed are located. On the map, the year in whi.cll 
<c: a ch road proceeding was begun, is indicated by the side of the road and 
the number of the docket and the page where the record is found, are 
also similiarly indicated. Thus a road laid out in 17 30 and ru­
·corded in Docket 1. page 45 is indicated, on the map thus "1730-1-45," 
By this means any of the road records may be found in full on the •iock­
e tc. The discussion herein is in abbreviated form-simply sufficient lo 
identify the roads as they are today and to indicate who lived along their 
course and to give such other information as may enable the reader to 
grasp the story of our county's roads down to 1760 . 

The m a p is accurate. Though it is only nine inches square. it was 
first p r oduced six fe et square on a scale of 220 perches to an inch: 
and each road was carefully drafted upon a separate strip of paper on 
the same scale as the map from the courses and distances in the do clrnts 
set forth and then placed properly on the map. The end of each course 
in this lfne of the road was pin-pricked from the paper to the map. Care 
w a s taken, also to see that the "calls" for crossing of streams, townsl1ip 
lines and other roads, and the "calls" for mills, hills, etc., in the records, 
should fall in the map at the proper places upon such streams, other 
roads, township lines, etc. This required all the streams large and 
small, etc., to be placed accurately on the map. 

The map, with all the records drawn upon it and the towns etc., lo­
cated and named, was photographed one foot square and f inally half ­
tone plates were made 9 inches square from which the map was printe<l. 
The scale of miles in the large map was 220 perches to an inch and in .he 
small one is 5 miles to an inch. 

It is to be regretted that, a reading glass must be used to read tr.e 
map, but it will amply repay any one interested in the subject to so ·ea l 
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it because ··a wealth of accura t e information is conta ined on it a nd it is 
a 'complete Jcey to t h e first two volumes of roa d proceedings of our County. 

Finally I des ire to call the r eader 's attention to tbe sentiment con­
t a ined in the story of our early roads. D a ily, all the people who moved 
about from place to place used these narrow avenues, either singly or in 
groups to govern their movements. Our property is private and those 
who desire to go from place to p lace, must use these avenues or' higll­
ways to do so . Happy groups, on outings, picnics, weddings, etc., used 
them. R everent gr oups going to places of worship used them, sad pro­
cessions going to fun erals used them. Amb itious peop le 'in quest of for ­
tune, trade, etc., used them. Childi;en by thousands tramped ove r them to 
·school. In fact the life, activity, the h eart throbs of the n1asses of the 
county used them for generations and we are using them today, (many 
of them) in the same place where our fore-fathers u sed them nearly 2C O 
years ago; not in the same way, but not more joyously than they used 
them. 

W ith this general d iscussion disposed of, I now enter upon a running 
history, in ep itome, of the roads of our great county, from the b eginning 
down to 1760. I hope to add at a future time those additional roads 
(at least the longer on es) which were laid out and opened, by Jaw, from 
1760 down to the Revolutionary War. 

A brief history of the said roads in chronological order, w ill now be 
set forth . 

1714-GREAT CONESTOGA ROAD 

The earliest public road extendin g across Lancaster County, is that 
leadin g from th e n eighborhood of Christiana by way of the Gap, a nd 
north of Strasbur g, by the Great Spring, through Willow street, on to Rock 
Hill, about 19 miles Jong. It was !mown as the Great Conestoga Roa d. 
It dates back to 171 4 as a "customary road." It was the subject of public 
attention from 1721 on ward and was formally laid out in 1734. Its h iB­
tory has been fully discussed in the pamphlet of June 19 08, of our so ­
c iet y's proceedings, Edward Daugherty Jived on this roa d abou t .:ix 
miles west of Gap and about two miles north-east of Strasburg. D,i,ugh­
erty's was the point f rom wh ich a n importa nt road began, lead ing to 
Buckley 's mill, on Octorara, about two a nd a h a lf miles south of Chris­
t ia n a. Other intersecting roads a lso joined a t Daugherty's. It is 
strange that a town did not .begin to grow there. 

West of Daugherty's a bout 2 ',i miles, this road crossed Pequea creek 
a t Haines' run or n ear it. This run r etained its name down to 1 824 at 
least, when it appears in Scott's map of L ancas t er County, of that date. 
The crossing was about half way between Strasburg (western end) and 
L a mpeter Square. It is n ear the site of the Edisonville light plant, above 
the old woolen mill, w h ere the present trolley line crosses the Pequea .. 
About two and one-sixth miles west of this Pequea crossing, the draft of 
the road calls for the "Great Spring". This spring is at the intersection o,f 

the !·ate Big Springs a nd B eaver Valley Turnpilrn, with the old Conestoga 
road, and the point is about said distance, northwest of the specified Pequ ea 
C r eek Crossing. It is known as the Herr Spring. There is a nother 
Big Spring on the same road abo ut t w o-thirds of a mile n earer Pequea. 
These springs a re sources of two of the small branches which form part 
of a considerable tributary of Mill Creek lying to the northward. 

NOTE :-'l'he author has had a m ap m a d e s imilar to the ·one herein 
insert ed , on a scale of 2 miles to an inch, (22 lh by 22 ~4 inches in size a nd 
printed in contrasting co lors ) , w hich may be h ad at the cost of production 
on application to him, at 48 North Duke street , Lancaster, Pa. 
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No other point is called for, on the draft of old Conestoga road 
west of Great Spring until the Conestoga creek is reached, at Postleth­
waite's, now Roel{ Hill. Later this road was changed and shifted south­
ward along a considerable distance so as to pass through Strasburg. This 
road was not a "King's Highway," such as were laid out by Council, hut 
efforts to make it such were put forth in 171 8. (See 2 Col. Rec. 43 J ar.d 
also in 1721 (See 3 Do. 142.) Yet the road was known as a "Great 
Road" a nd it was often before Council. Therefore in 1733 it is not sur­
prising that it was called "the King's Road" below Edward Daugherty's" 
(Docket 1 p. 8 3) by the viewers. That they viewed the Great Conestogn. 
Road is plain from page 7 3 of the same docket, where the petitioners 
as!{ for a road f rom "Conestoga Road below Edward Daugherty's" . We 
have seen above that Daugherty lived on the Great Conestoga Road. 

The petition for Great Conestoga Road may be found in re-copie<l 
Quarter Sessions Docked No. 1, p·. 89; .and the draft of the same on page 
99. The dockets cited in this paper are the re-copied dockets and they 
are paged somewhat differently from the original dockets. The dockets 
will be cited simply 1 D, for docket No l , 2 D, for docket No. 2, etc., 
followed by the page or pages intented. 

In many cases the original petitions with the lists of petitioners m&y 
be found in the said Quarter Sessions files, but practically no early _drafts 
can be found. 

1717-0LD PETER'S ROAD 

It is impossible to state when the Old ;E'eter's Road became a well de­
fined bridle road or wagon road across the northern p art of our county. 
It was so named because Peter Bizellion, a French Indian trader used that 
course in conveying· furs, etc., from the Susquehanna to Philadelphia. 

He made application to be licensed as an Indian trader in 1712 ( 2 Col. 
R ec. 545) a nd by 1 717 was a well -lmown trader and interpreter ( 3 Do. 19). 
Therefore, it is safe to say that by 1717, this trail had become a 'trader's 
road. 

Its location is definitely fixed by being adopted as the boundary be­
tween the townships of Penn, Warwick a nd the Earls, on the north, ftnd 
of the townships of East H empfield, Manheim and the Leacocks on the 
south of it in the laying out of the original townships of our county in 
1729. (See 1 D. 8 etc .. ) 'l'his locates the said road, west to the east­
ern branch of Chicldes Creek It is said in some old works that, west of 
the said creek, beginning at the Susquehanna river it lay where the pre;;;ent 
boundary between Mount Joy and the Donegal township is located 
·and that then it ran eastward across Rapho, to the Penn and H empfield 
Township line. The eastern end of the road (from the Salisbury Twp. 
line,) courses southeasterly and intersectss the Provincial or Old Philadel­
phia road at or near. Spring Garden. 

Very little more need be said of it except to notice that in 17 39 a 
roa d was lai d out close by it, parallelling it and at intervals crossing and 
recrossing it. leading from Spring Garden in Salisbury to Penryn in Penn 
Township. (See 1 D. 300.) In the petition for review of this road, it 
ls suggested by Court that Old Peter's Road may be used, no doubt as 
part of the course of the proposed new road (See 1 D . 293.) The petitioners 
refer to it as the "old road made and used in early times". Peter's road 
is another apt illustration of a "customary road." Peter Bizellion ancl his 
wife Martha. lie buried in Compass church-yard on the Lancaster County 
eastern terminus of the "Old Peter's Road ." 

1719-ROAD LOWER OCTORARA TO CHRISTIANA BRIDGE 

The oldest road in Lancaster County laid out by order of · Court 
is one recorded to August sessions 1719 of Chester County Courts. Lan-
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caster County was then part of Chester County. The courses and. dis­
tances of this road cannot be found now. But it began in the neighbor­
hood of Peters Creek, near Susquehanna and trended eastward over the 
Conowingos ne·ar their junction, below King's Mill and on eastward across 
Chester County to the Christiana Bridge near Wilmington. It is re­
ferred to in the records as a road from the wost side of James Askin's 
land, thence across Octorara and by the Meeting . House, etc. It is No. 
112, of the Chester County records. Rupp refers to it in a note, page 
42 and says it extended through Lancaster County "to the fording place 
.at Octorara at old Shawanastown, thence over Octorara along the Indian 
path, etc ., Aug. sessions 171 9". As it would lie on the same course oc­
cupied by a road running eastward across lower Conowingo we have 
marked only part of its course in the map. 

1724-ROAD, HEAD OF PEQUEA TO NOTTINGHAM 

In 1724 a road partly in now Lancaster County was laid out by the 
. Courts of Chester County, beginning at a lime -stone rock. at the head 
of Pequea Creek. It may be found in Vol. 1. p. 156 of the Chester 
County Road papers. and its location is in a like manner indicated. on the 
map. It's course is almost due south. It begins in now Salisbury 
Township and crosses the great Conestoga road 1100 perches or nearly 
31h miles south of its beginning point and about the same place it crosses 
into Chester County, through ''White Oak Springs" -and on to John Church­
man's and about a mile farther south connects with the road from New 
Garden to Nottingham . It was nineteen and :five-sixth miles long. 

1726- ROAD CONESTOGA CREEK TO LAI•PS (CO. LINE . ) 

In the Chester County Court, in 17 2 G, whi:e we were yc>t a part of 
that county, a road was laid out from the Concstog,.t Creek beginning 20 
perches !Jelow U~E' point wh ere the Cocalicri enters near the lin l' between 
1J1,11cr Ll·acock ,w<l West Earl •.r,nvnships, :i.uu practical .:, on th,~ ,site of 
Old Peter's Road (See Volume 2, No. 6 of Original Papers.) It follow­
ed the general direction of the Peter's Road. but before crossing Pequea 
creek it strucl{ quite south of Peter's road. This is apparent on the map. 
The course is south-eastwardly. After proceeding about 21h miles ( 7 8 0 
p .) it reached Martin Bear's la nd. w hpse residence was about two miles 
east of Jacob Bear's mill at Oregon. About 314 miles southeast of Bear's 
on this road (1036 p.) Theodorius Eaby's land began and a mile farther 
on (321 p.) it crossed Mill Creel{ at Eaby's Mill. At a distance of 13t:1 
perches farther on about 414 miles it reached Henry Cowan's land. 

I here remark parenthetically that David Cowan in 1729 lived on 
Old Peter's Road at the point where Salisbury, Leacocl{ and the present 
Earl Townships meet. I do not know what kinship he bore to Iienry 
Cowan. He lived northeast of Henry. After proceeding southeastward­
ly beyond Cowan's about 2 14 miles the road took an abrupt northeasterly 
course for nearly 1 1h miles to the Pequea Creek at Dan. Cookson's. It 
then proceeded south-eastwardly about four and three-quarter miles farth­
er (1482 perches) to the county line, near Lapp's, below Compass. The 
course from Cowan's to Cookson'S are 11 77 perches in length. 

The fact the Old Peter's Road, the Bear's Mill R·oad, the Road to Pen­
ryn and this road of 1726 a ll traversed the same strip of territory shows 
that there was gre. •.t importance attached to and development in this sec­
tion across the three Yalleys of Pequea, Mill Creek .and Conestoga. The 
road we are considering is the earliest of the iong roads, laid out by 
court in our region. Up)JE'r Conestoga was awake. 
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1729-ROAD, MOORE'S MILL TO WHITE CLAY CREEK ROAD 

In 17 29 inhabitants of Sadsbury then partly in both counties, petition. 
ed for a road from Moore's Mill on Octorara to the road that leads to 
White Clay Creek. The same may bP- fo und in Docket A, page 22 oE the 
Chester County records and it is !mown as No. 49 in volume 2 of Original 
Road Papers of that county. It is briefly set forth as beginning· at 
Thomas Moore's l\ilill in Sadi;:1.rnry Township and ending at a blaclc ·oalc by 
the road that leads to White Clay Creelc landing. It lies in Sadsbury, 
Fallowfield, E. Nottingham and London Grove Townships. IL led in a 
southeastern direction to White Clay Creek below Wilmington. I men. 
tion it here because it was part of the system of our roads l,1auing to navi. 
gation on the Lower Delaware. Thos. Moore on Octorara was at or near 
our Christiana. 

1729-ROAD SUSQUEHANNA RIVER TO COOKSON'S. 

In 1729, while our Court was still meeting at Postlewaite's, inhabitants 
of the county declared in a petition to the said Court tha t a highway 
through Hempfield Township, from the first surveyed land .near Susque. 
hanna to Christia n Storreman's Mill and from the said mill to Daniel Cook­
son's at the head of Pequea, was necessary and they asked that viewers 
be appointed to Jay out such road. The court appointed viewers, (1 D. 
17) . No report or return of the viewers appears of record. However us 
the Columbia region was settled before 17 29, a "customa ry road" was 
surely in use, from the beginning. We sha ll, however, see that five years 
later, a road was formally laid out (1 D. 100) at this place. 

In 1753 Conestoga Citizens petitioned for a review of a road from 
Christian Stone's Mills in Conestoga Township to Caleb Worley's on tho 
Gap road in Bart Township and such reviewers were appointed. There 
is no record of a return of the original road (2 D. 4 & 8.) 

1730-ROAD, TAYLOR'S MILL TO NORTH EAST 

In J<'ebruary, 1730, Samuel 'l'aylor, a miller, filed a petition in Court 
setting forth the necessity of a road from his mill to navigable water and 
that the head of North East is the most convenient for trade. He n.slrnd. 
that viewers be appointed to lay out such road, and the court appoin, ­
ed such viewers. The petition sets forth that if the road applied for be 
laid out to the Great Road which goes to Henry Reynold's Mill in Cheste1• 
County, that would suffice (See 1 D. 24). We cannot find any return 
or survey made by the viewers. Just where Samuel Taylor's mill was id. 
not certain. Buckley's Mill, · a short distance south of Christiana, was 
known as Taylor's Mill (2 D. 70) at a later date; but it is not the Tay­
lor's Mill referred to at this date, 173 0. 

1730-ROAD, HEAD BEAVER CREEK TO OCTORARA CREEK 

At the February Court of 17 30, at Postlewaite's, various inhabi, 
tants of the county petition that a road may be laid out by Court frorn. 
Beaver Creelc west of John Kyle's along the valley to the bridge ov!)r 
Octorara Creek above Caleb Pierce's, through Sadsbury, to the County 
line ( 1 D. 2 3). The court appointed viewers and a road was laid out by 
them (1 D. 25). This road is very interesting. It is 10 1h miles long-._ 
It lies through "the valley" and is near where the present valley roaa 
from Quarryville, past Middle Octorara Presbyterian Church and on to 
Green Tree and to Christiana, now lies. However, much of its cour~e 
does not correspond with the present road. It begins in the neighbor-

r 
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hood of Ca rmargo and curves southeast into the Quarryville section and 
then on easterly through the valley. See its course on the map. 

While the p etitioners call the beginning point Little B eav er they 
r efe r to Big Beaver, because they specify the beginning to be west of John 
Kyle's. Joh n Coyle's or (John Kyle's) is the northwest corner of Eden 
Township (1 D. 8.) and that point is on B ig Beaver Creek. Little B eaver 
is a considerab le distance northward and not in Sadsbury Township. N,me 
of the residents a long the course of this roa d a r e noted , so that it dues 
n ot m ention Middle Octorara Church a nd therefore lilrn ly passed some 
distance away from it. T·hat church was organized befo r e this tim e. The 
ending point of the road is ab ove Caleb Pierce's on Octorara. The r e is 
no way of lo cating this point, but the courses and distances set forth 
starting from the head of B eaver Creelr, place it _somewhere near where 
the present valley road reaches the Octora ra, a mile or less .below Chris ­
tia n a and considerably n orth of the Noble road. It must not be con ­
fused with another road from h ead of Beaver (Smith's Mill) to Octorara 
which we will discuss la t er. (1 D. 308 - 314) . The last n amed road 
trends almost due s outheast , w hile the road we a r e now con sidering runs 
for most of its course some what ·north of east. 

It may have been a part of this road which was complained of as 
of small use a nd as being burdensome in 17 33 (1 D. 73). It began some 
where near or maybe a bove Willia m Smith's mill 'on Beaver Creek. At 
any rate, at the court last mentioned the road laid ·Oljt frorn Smith's 
Mill to David Templeton 's on Octorara was said to be of small use and 
burdensome to the petitioners "many of the inhabita nts of Sadsbury." It 
therefore seems tha t they were compla ining of a roa d passing through 
Sadsbury a nd desired one extending sout hward from the upper Bea­
ver va lley instead of one r unning eastward. The viewers wer e ordered 
to decide wheth er a road to Raclr Run ( Md.) w ould be better than one 
to Octorara. The road complained of, however was one leading from 
Smith's Mill to David T empleton 's on Octorara a nd not one leading to Ca­
leb Pearce's. The viewers did not say they laid out the road to Pierce ' s, 
but they say they laid it out to Octorara ( 1 D. 2 5) . The fact that they 
first swung southward a nd then s tr'uck north-east to Octorara, looks 
like a n effort to accomodat e people southward and p eop le to the east­
ward . 

1730-ROA D , SMITH'S MILL TO TEMPLETON'S ON OCTORARA 

It is eviden ced that then, was a public road ''laid out" from Smith 's 
Mill at the h ead of Beaver Creek presumably across Sadsbury Tow nship 
to Da vid Templetons on Octorara. In 17 33 m a ny inhabitants of Sads­
bury complained that this road is u seless a nd, burdensome a nd they ask ed 
to h ave a roa d la id out from sa id Smith 's Mill to Rock Run in Marv­
la nd ( 1 D. 7 3), The court appointed viewers and directed them to d ete'r-­
mine whether such a road will supply the one they complain of. The 
roa d they aslr for would likely trend south-easterly p erha ps dow n wess 
bra nch of Octorara and there m eet a main Chester County roa d to 
or toward Rock Run. It s eems tha t instead of a n outlet to the east from 
Smith's Mill, they desired one to the southward. The application was 
evidently made by a la rge petition . The original p etition cannot b e 
found nor is the sa m e copied in the docket . 

1732- ROAD, DONEGAL CHURCH TO LANCASTER 

There seems to h ave been a lull of about two years subsequent to. 
1730 in road a pplication after that pray ing for a roa d beginning a t the 
h ead of Bea.Yer Creek was made. The Donegal section of the County 
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-next applied, in 17 32 (1 D. 58). The road prayed for here was to be 
come a section of the future Great Road from H a rris F erry to L a n­
caster. The record sets forth that dive rs inhabitants of Donegal pe­
tition that persons may be appointed to view and lay out a road from the 
Meeting House in Donegal to the tow n of Lancaster. The court appoint­
e d viewers. The r ecords do not disclose a ny r eport m ade. Later there 
was a road from Logan's Ferry on Susquehanna leading by Donegal Mee t­
ing House to t he Ma in H a rris F erry a nd Lancast er Road ( 2 D. 2 4). Thi<; 
was in 17 42. It was not a n out-growth of this application of 17 32 and 
therefore it will b e treat ed as a s eparate roa d . Whether for 10 year;; 
after 1732 these people u sed a " customary" road to L a ncaster, we can­
not tell; but from the silence of the record they likely did so. 

1733-ROAD, SMITH'S MILL TO ROCK RUN 

It is evident that Rock Run in Mayland was a very importa nt point, 
to the growing popula tion of centra l L a ncaster County a nd especially to 
those of the south-central and southern sections . It was a point on one 
or more of the Great Roads of Maryland, leading to Christiana Creek n ear 
W ilmington to the eastward ; and to north- eas at the hea d of "navigable 
waters" on Chesapeake as many r efer ences show. 

William Smith owned a mill a t the head of Beaver Creek at or near 
present New Providence, a t least a distance fa rther down the stream 
than Carmargo, It was in Martic Township (1 D. 73) now Providence. 

At May Court 173 3, h e and divers others of his n eighboring inhabi­
tants petitioned for a public wagon road fro m his mill to Roclr Ru.1 in 
Maryland for the en couragement of tra de. They set forth the great nti­
cessity for such roa d. The court a ppointed viewers to lay out such road 
if they saw f it; but there is no report on file of their action. They may 
have refused it. It was not until four years la t er in 17 37 (1 D. 241) that 
a road was laid out passing not far from Smith's Mill to or n ear Roclt 
Run. It was the Great L a n caste r to Mount Pleasant Road. over 23 
miles long. 

At this same court another p etition w as presented in connec tion 
with this road application signed by "many of the inhabita nts of Sads-· 
bury township complaining that a road already laid out f rom Smth's 
mill to David T empleton's on Octorara was use less", a nd they ask that this 
road substitute it. There is no record of a road so laid out unless it be 
tha t above referred to from Beaver to Octorara (1 D ; 25). However 
ther e was such road and it seems to have b een one "la id out" a nd not 
a "customa r y road". Just where Davi·d Te mpleton 's was on Octorara 
the re is no means of stating accurate ly. 

1733- ROAD, DOUGHERTY'S ON CONESTOGA ROAD TO BUCKLEY'S 
ON OCTORARA CREEK 

One of the most important early Mills was James Buckley's on Oc­
torara Creek, about 2 'h to 3 miles south of Christiana. It was the t6r­
minus of several roads. It was afterwards, (circa 17 49) known a s 
Taylor 's Mill, as we h ave said . James Buckley a nd has fa mily of Sads­
bury must not be confused with the la t er iron-maste r , Buclrley of ~;Rlis­
bury a t Buckley's Forge . J ames was a miller. In 1731 J a m es Buckley 
was granted a warra nt for 200 acres and a llowances on Octorara Creelr, 
(Vol. 19 of 2nd Series of Pa. archives p. 762) to build a mill "as well for 
merchants as the country trade." It was surveyed to him where he 
h a d a lready built a mill on Octorara Creek (Taylor Misc. Vol. 15, No. 
3083.) His patent for the land is found in Patent Book A, Vol. 6, p. 362 
a nd it describes the land as pa rtly in Lancaster and partly in Chester 
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Counties . It is bounded on the west "on the skirt of a barren mountain 
and on the south by John Devore's land". I cite this simply because of 
the importance of the old mill property. 

At May Court 1733, James Buckley (Miller) and many of the neigh­
boring inhabitants petitioned the court praying a public wagon road 
be laid out from Conestoga Road below Edward Daugherty's to sa.id 
B u ckley's mill on Octorara, and it being made appear to court that the 
mill is likely to be of considerabl e advantage to the inhabitants of the 
county, the court appointed viewers to lay out such road if they saw fit. 
Among the viewers was Bucl{ley's neighbor John Devor (1 D. 73). 

The viewers made their report to November Court ( 1 D . 8 3) setting 
forth the courses and distances of the survey, but not mentioning any in­
tervening points. It was nine miles long. It is described as a road 
from the "King's" road, below Edward Daugherty's to Octorara near 
James Buckley's Mill. I call attention to this point because the "King's" 
road here means the Old Conestoga Road and not the Provincial Road 
or King's Highway from Lancaster to Compass church, etc. I have 
mentioned before why the word "King's" was used . It is well known 
that Daugherty did not live on the King's Highway, but on Conestoga 
Road. Indeed the King's Highway was not completely la id out at the 
time this Buckley road report was signed. Adoption of it was filed at this 
same court (1 D. 84). 

1733-IilNG'S IDGHWAY-LANCASTER TO COMPASS CHUDCH 

The "King's Highway" has been fully written up in the proceedings 
of our Society and much cannot be · added. It begins at Lancaster 
Court House and extends by an a lmost straight line eastwardly to the 
county line and on to Philadelphia. Not many points or owners of land 
are set forth on the draft (which appears in Vol. 3, Co lonial Records, p. 
521) except Conestoga Creek, Mill Creel{, Cat Trail Run and Octorara.. 

This highway was laid out by the Provincial government and not by 
the County Courts as common roads were laid out. The report of the 
survey and draft was made to Council. After this was done, it was con­
firmed by the Governor and Council. The action was certified to the 
Quarter Sessions Court int.er alia of Lancaster County (1 D. 84) and the 
court ordered the road to be forthwith cleared and rendered commodious. 
Orders were issued to the several supervisors to open and clear the road 
on the north side of the marlced trees at least 30 feet wide to grub tile 
under brush 15 feet wide and maim bridges over swamps to make it safe 
and passable. for wagons. 

1734-ROAD, GAP TO CONESTOGA (RELOCATED) 

At February Court 1734, upon the petition of many inhabitants set­
ting forth that there had been a public road laid from the Gap to Cones­
toga and had for near twenty years past been found very convenient for 
the inhabitants, but that it was not confirmed by authority and was liable 
to continual alteration and was almost impassable for want of repair; ask­
ing for appointment of viewers to lay it out by courses and distances and 
to make alterations and to extend it on from Pastlewaite, to Blue Rock on 
Susquehanna, viewers were appointed. (1 D. 90.) These viewers made re ­
port, setting out courses and distances to May Court 173 4 (1 D. 9 9). All 
these proceedings and the comp lete history of this road appear in our 
Society's proceedings as we have before stated. 

1734-ROAD, HARE'S 1\-IILL TO GREAT SPRINGS 

At May Court, 17.34, many inhabitants, frenuenting Hare's Mill on 
Pequea asked for a road to be laid out from the Great Spring, on the 
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Conestoga and Gap roa d, to the said mill. The court appointed view­
" ··s , 1. D. 9 8). This jury · reported they co_uld not agree nor p_erfect the 
roa d (Do. 107). _ The proceeding was not completed at this time. In 
17 3_6 the v iewers were ordered to proceed and finish their task (D. 182). 
A little later (Do. 18ll) the viewers made report that they laid out a road 
from the said King's road leading from Conestoga to Gap, to Emanuel 
~are's mill and their r eport was judged deficient and imperfect accord ­
mgly other viewers were appointed. This road case was appealed to the 
Supreme Court and finally confirmed by tha t Court . (Do . 216.) 'l'here 
are, however, no r ecords at all of a ·r eturn · mad·e by the viewers nor of 
any other proceedings in existence anywhere as to it. It seems to have 
been the present Hunsecker's Mill, onc9i H-averstick's, which was then 
owned by Ema nuel Hare. The road was a pparently what was a.fter­
wards a part of Big Springs a nd Beaver Valley Turnpiirn. (See m ap.) 

1734-ROAD, WRIGHT'S FERRY TO LANCASTER 

In 1734 John Wright, Esq ., fil ed a petition in Court setting forth that 
formerly a petition signed by many inhabitants was presented to Court 
asking that a road b e laid out from Lancaster to Susquehanna nea1· 
Wright's plantation, w hich petition was approved; but as there was no 
established ferry, it could not. be known where to lay it out, a nd it was 
d eferred. But the Governor, having since issued a patent for said ferry, 
a nd appointed a place of la nding on said Wright's la nd, v iewers were 
ther efore asked for and the same were appointed. (1 D. 89). 

At May Court, · same year, (1 Do . 100) the viewers made- a r eturn tc 
Court tha t they laid out sa id road and r eturned a draft of it. The 
court approved the same . The courses and distances are not r ecorded 
and the draft cannot be found. However they state tha t it b egan on 
Susquehanna at the dividing line between Wright and Blunstcin. Ther~ 
is no record of the first proceedings in thi.s road case, the proceedngi 
which Wright in his petition refer s to . 

1734- ROAD, KING'S J\ULL 'l.'0 OCTORARO. 

At May Court, 17 3 4, viewers who h a d theretofore been appo inted pre­
sented their return of a road from James King·'s Mill to the County line 
at Octoraro. This road was only about six miles long, but all the 
Conowingo region where it traversed was a very active district at this 
time, (1 D. 98) . The petition for this road was filed at F ebruary Court, 
(Do. 9 O). They asked that the roa d lead to the Nottingham road that 
leads to Christiana Creek. The r eport refers to the Conowingo as Little 
Conowingo. This is an error. since King's Mill was ·on Big Conowingo, 
as m a ny r eferences prove. One of the points called for is a branch of 
Raccoon Creek. 'This call will correspond with the position of Raccoon 
Creek if Big Conowingo be taken a s a starting point. Raccoon Creek is 
still called by tha t name in Scott's Map of 1824; and it is so known to this 
day. L a ter this roa d was reviewed and, in fact, another road made of 
it, crossing the Octoraro, farther south, a t Mile's Ford. (See D. 132 and 
228). 

1734- ROAD, GAP TO JACOB BEAR'S J\fiLL. 

At May Court, 1734 , a p etition of the inha bita nts of L eacock Town­
ship w as presented, setting forth t·h e n ecessity of a roa d from Richard 
Beeson's land to Andrew Moore's mill on a branch of Octoraro in Chest­
er County, and asking for viewers to lay out such . road. They were ap­
pointed ,and orde red to lay out a roa d from the King's Road to Philadel­
phia, (Old Philadelphia Provincial Road) to the Conestoga road. (1 D. 
89). These viewers reported at the August Court (1 D. 107) that they 
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deferred acting and prayed that other persons be appointed and th,at al­
terations should be made in the order of Court. The Court appointed 
others and ordered them to lay out a road from Great Conestoga road 
to King' s road and crossing the same to extend the same northwest­
wardly near the south corner of Richard Beason's land, (in order to, 
accommodate a meeting house for worship), and from thence, if need 
be, to Jacob Bear's mill. 

This Jury of View evidently made a report to November Court, 
which must have been displeasing and unsatisfactory, because at the­
same Court, (1 D . 110) in a petition stating that ,a road had been laid 
·out "from Conestoga Road to Richard Beason's la nd" a number of in­
habitants pray that a review of the same may be had, and viewers were­
appointed to alter it if necessary and to extend it to Jacob Bear's mill. 

It would seem that these viewers were prematurely a ppointed and: 
that they or o_thers, were appointed at February Court, 1735, or that 
they made a report to February Court, 1735, and other viewers were­
appointed for another review at that same February Court because, in 
May 1735, (1 D. 123) reviewers who state that they were appointed at 
February Court to -review the said road, make return of the courses and 
distances of a road from a br,anch of Octoraro Creek to Conestoga road 
and from the Conestoga road near Gap to Bear's mill. The reason the­
matter is indefinite is that, the record of the February, 173 5 sessions 
is entirely missing from· the docket. 

Before discussing this important ro,ad further, we call attention to. 
the . fact that this Richard Beeson's fract is different from that of Rich ­
a,rd Beeson's or Booson's, whose farm was made the point at the head of' 
Muddy Creel{, forming the western end of the artificia l line which 
marked, in p,art, the northern boundary of the Drumores. (1 D. 8) This· 
Beeson was one-half mile west of the southwestern corner of present 
Providence Township. 'l'he Richard Beason mentioned in the draft of' 
the road in question_, lived n ear the Prov incial Road leading from Lan­
caster to Philadelphia. 

Then, too, it seems that near the point last mentioned, that is, after­
crossing King's Highway and ·on to Beason's, a meeting house was to, 
be accommodated by the proposed road. The meeting house nearest 
that point -at that date was Heller's Reformed church, south of Me-. 
chanicsburg. 

The road returned in this case consists of two parts, (1 D . 123) 
The viewers recite the order ·of Feb. 5, 1734, as their authority. The­
record does not show any order granted at that Court, for this purpo_se. 
TheJ', perhaps, mean FCc>bruary 1734-5. Yet the first Court day was· 
February 4th, that year. The order may have been issued on the 5th. 
That record is missing. The first pa rt of the road b egins at a branch 
of Octoraro Creek in the County line below John Minshall's and pro ­
ceeds about 100 perches to a road laid out from Francis Jones' t <\ Phil-. 
adelphia, and then they laid out the balance beginning at Cone_stoga. 
road near Gap and proceed to Jacob Bear's mill. The Francis .tones ' 
road is not on record anywhere. It seems to have been a link in 'con­
necting the point on Octoraro, stated with the Gap road, which, after it 
reaches the Gap, proceeding from the west, strikes sharply southeast to­
Minshall's. 

These viewers, a lso note that a former road was la id out from the­
Conestoga Road to the Provincial Road, for they say they have made 
several alte!'ations. As they proceed from their starting point "near the­
Gap", where they n·ote John Jone's land then proceed northwest 850 
perches, about 2 %, miles to Samuel Blythe's land; and then about one-. 
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third mile farther to Pequea Creek; after passing Humphrey Fullerton's 
and Samuel Blythe's i.and a t Pequea Creek, a nd Alexander Davidson's, 
who lived near-by, striking more nearly w est, they cross the Provincial 
Road, 700 perches or two a nd one-fifth miles far ther on. Then srtildng 
northwest about 2 miles, Hatwell Vernon's residence is r eached near our 
present t own of Mascot or Monterey. '.rhen 7 86 perches farthe r on-a little 
less than 2 ~f, miles-they reach Mathias Taylor 's land in the neighborhood 
of Mecha nicsburg, and 820 perches, or 2 ~ miles farther on in the same 
northwestern direction, they r each the Conestoga Creek, a nd 266 perch­
es fa rther, or a\J ou~ thre('-c;uarters of a mile in Manheim Township, on 
Carter's Run, they r each Jacob Bear's mill, in the present town of 
Oregon. 

In 1772, this road was ordered opened 30 feet wide, (Docket 1772 
p . 108, copied). This was done on a petition of the inhabitants of Man­
heim, Leacock, Warwick a nd Earl. It was then an important road 
"from the County line to Jacob Bear's (now Martin Myers') mill in 
Manheim Township." (See Carter's Creel, r eferr ed to , 1 D . 293.) 

1734-ROAD, POSTLEWAITE'S TO BLUE ROCK AND WRIGHTS 

At November sessions 1734, John Emerson a nd others, p etitioned 
for a roa d to be laid out from John Postlewaite's to the Susquehanna 
River at Blue Rock and on up the river to Wrights Ferry into the Lan ­
caster road. Viewers were appointed. There is no record of a r eport 
made by them but we know such a road was laid out. It became the 
Columbia a nd Washington Borough· Turnpike late r. The portion from 
Postlethwaite's to Blue Rock is also very ancient ( 1 D. 111.) 

1735- ROAD, WHITEHILL'S TO COUNTY LINE. 

At F ebruary Court 173 5 (1 D. 116) J a m es Whitehill, a n a ncestor of 
one of our future Congres:;,men in Salisbury p etitioned for a road from 
the Provincial Road to his house. Viewers were appointed to lay out 
a roa d from the county line where the road to Clerk's 1\l[ill crosses the 
same to said Whitehill's. At n ext Court the r eport was made accord­
ingly, (1 D. 12 3) . '!.'he course is from Whitehill's east-northeast 612 
perches or less tha n 2 miles to the County line n ear John Miller's, that is 
near Compass. I note this roa d only because of the importance of the 
man. We shall see later tha t Whitehill also h a d property nea r Peqm,a 
Presbyterian Church. Or perhaps it was another Whitehill. Ther e was 
a John Whitehill in that n eighborhood. 

1735- ROAD, SNAVELY'S (SCHOENECK) TO CAMPBELL'S FORD. 

At May sessions 1735 the inha bitants of Cocalico p etitioned for a 
road from Jacob Snavely's near Schoen eck or Gockley, past Kitzmiller 's 

.Creek to Campbell's Ford on Schuykill in order to join a public road in 
Philadelphia County (1 D. 122) . Viewers were appointed and at next 
Court they made a return of the same (1 D. 132.) They b egin at Jacob 
snebely's near the present town of Schoeneck or Gockley 's in Cocalico 
Township a nd after laying out several courses and dista nces in a general 
north-east e rn direction 2034 p erches or about 6 miles, they r each Kitz­
miller's Creek in Berks County; then proceeding by irregular coursl,S 
northeast at a dista n ce of about 5 miles (bee line ) they cross a branch 
of Big Muddy Creek, a few miles w est of Reading. Then they change the 
course sharply south-east by irregular courses and distances about six 
miles (bee line) and then by several courses and distances curving south-
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ward but t ermina ting at the east ern end of a n east north-east bee-line 7 
mil es long, they r each the Schuyllcill river a t Campbell's Ford near pres­

. ent Birdsboro. 

1735-ROAD, ALEXANDER'S TO MILES FORD 

At August sessions 17 35, the inhabitants of Drumore petitioned for 
a road from .Ja m es Alexander ' s to Octoara Creek a t Miles Ford to join 
a road in Ch ester County, leading to Christiana Creek. The court ap­
pointed viewers to lay out the same if t h ey saw fit (1 D . 132.) 

There do es not seem to have been any r eturn filed by these viewer.s, 
as far as the r ecords shows; or perh a ps they m a k e r eport against laying 
out said road and it was n ot conside red necessary to r ecord the said return. 

In a return made in August 17 39 of a road laid out from the Lan­
caster road by Ch estn ut L evel P r esbyterian chur ch a nd ·on t o P eter's Creek 
it appears that .Jedediah Ale" ander Jived three and two -third miles south of 
Chestnut Level church a nd 216 perches north of Caleb P enne ll's on Peter's 
Creek; (1 D . 266). Hereafter it w ill be shown that this road was practical­
ly a first a ttempt to lay out, a road actua lly laid out in 1738, (1 D . 232) 
from Fenn el's n ear Alexand8r's toward Octorara. 

1735- ROAD, HEAD OF PEQUEA TO KING'S J'\.IILL ROAD . 

At August Sessions 17 35 (1 D. 1 32) the inhabitants, "toward t he hea d 
of P equea Creelc" petitioned for a road to be la id out from the south side 
of the Mountain above William Willson's, to the King's road, for conven­
ience of Church, mill and market, and .John Mendenhall, Jacob Millar, 
Nathan Evans, .John Miller, .Jacob Gault and .John Cowan were appointed 
viewers . I mention these names because the location of this road not be­
ing given and no r etur n appearing in the r ecords of a ny view or sur­
v ey, by the viewers, the n ames of the viewers indicate the place of the pro­
posed road as the court a lways appo inted viewers in the immediate n eii;ll-

. borhood. Very frequently it appointed some on the jury, whose land would 
actually be crossed by the road . Mendenha ll a nd E vans ow n ed a djoining 
tracks at the :;;o uthwest corner of Caernarvon, l\ilendenha ll r eally across in 
Earl, Gault was in the same n eighborhood, .John Miller, and .John Cowan, 
were in Salisbury ·to the south. The road must have b een wanted for 
Ua n gor or Compass ·or for Pequea church. Later roads for these pur­
poses were laid out. It may be tha t the Evans Mill r oad of 1736 (1D 1-16-
157) was the final r esult of this a pplication. 

1736-ROAD , GAP TO BUCKLEY'S MILL. 

· At February Court 1736 (1 D. 146) .James Buckley a nd inhabita nts­
about h ead of P equea , petitioned that a public road might be laid out a t 
the Gap to Buckley's Mill. It was ordered that viewers which are ap-
pointed, to view the same. · 

At the May Court following the said viewers r eported ·a roa d (1D. 155) 
b eginning at Buckley's Mill roa d n ear .James Long 's house, by courses and 
dista n ces, almost due north two-thirds of the way a nd then about, north 
30 degr ees east, to the King's road, by Fra ncis .Jones, who as we have set>n 
before lived on or n ear Conestoga roa d (1 D. 123 ) the whole len gth b eing 
about 41h miles . 

No places are m entioned in the course of this road . Its length re­
quired, tha t it be located west of the Gap because east of the Gap tho 
Conestoga roa d at its Christiana terminus, approaches w ithin 3 miles of 
Buckley's. We a lso saw in 1 D. 123 that .Jones liVfid a short distance west 
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of Ga_p. This road's northern terminus was practically as the viewers say 
"at the Gap." 

Its Southern terminus seems to have been in what is now the Noble 
Road and it passed from the Ga p southward about midway b etween 
Smyrna, on the west a nd Nobleville on the east a nd then a short distance 
east of Coopersville . A continuation of it reaches the Octoraro a t Stee l­
ville. (See Bridgen's, Atlas 1 864 ) . 

1736-ROAD, EVANS' l\.DLL TO CHESTER COUNTY LINE . 

The inhabita nts of Caernarvon at February sessions 1736, p etition­
ed for a road from Nathan Evans' Mill to the "New Church" to the 
county line a nd requested that it be div ided into two parts toward the 
cast end to answer a roa d to be extended through Chest er County to 
Sa muel Nutt's and the othi>r to answer a roa d to be extended from 
the County Line in Philadelphia , (1 D. 146). At n ext Cour t (1 D. 1 57) 
these sa me inhabitants asked for a r eview of the a bove road and for alter­
ations of it. 

At the August sessions (1 D. 169) the p etitioners complain tha t the 
road is incomplete a nd that a r eview was order ed a nd tha t the review 
disregarded the road p etitioned for, entirely and it was stated that de­
bates had arisen. A petition from most of the blaclrnmiths who d ea l at 
Samuel Nutt 's fo r their iron, of Lancaster County was also presented to 
Court . 

Upon this the Court ordered another review of the road and that 
the viewers car efully determine whet h er the eastern extension shall cross 
the Conest oga Creek at Thomas Morgan's Bridge according to the fi r-st 
r eturn-(Morga ntown) or · more to the northward over the forks c..c ­
cording to the last return . The r ecords do not show any further steps, 

_..., .irn app lication for this road seems to have been dropped. 'l'he 
Lan cast er a nd Coventry. Iron Works Road, a King's Highway being la id 
out a year or two la ter made this application unnecessa ry. 4 c. R. 2 r. 7. 
This applica tion was fo r a road ext ending eastwa rdly . In 175 2 anoth0r 
roa d was laid f rom said E vans' Mill southwardly to the County Line 
(2 D. 86. 

1736-ROAD, CHESTNUT LEVEL TO B U CKLEY'S l\.IILL. 

At the February Court 17 36, the inhabitants of Chestnut Level pet­
itioned for a n ecessary road leading from said Chestnut Level to J a m•3S 
Buckley 's Mill (1 D. 146). William Smith, Alexander Sewright, John 
Caldwell, Joseph Long, John Robinson and John Stewart were named 
viewers. 

Ther:e is no return made by this jury of view. But a t the n ext Court 
ther e is a return ·of a road from Sewright's to Bucl, ley 's Mill road, and it 
recites that the r eturn is made pursuant to an order directed, at the last 
Court. This b eginning point was not the present well -1,nown Chestnut 
Leve l, but a locality near Carma rgo, in Eden Township. See 4 col. Rec . 
3 1 3, where it is stated that John Kyle lived at Chestnut L eve l. Kyle 's 
f a rm was a t the northwestern corner of present Eden Township. (1 D. 8.) 
A roa d from Chestnut L evel to Mech a nics Grove could, from that point, 
-enter the Sewright road to Buckley's. l D. 15 7 . 

1736- ROAD, SEWRIGHT'S TO BUCKLEY'S MILL. 

At May sessions 173 6, there was filed a r eturn by a jury of road ­
viewers of a road leading from Alexander Sewright's to James Buckley's 
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Mill (1 D. 157). The viewers state that their report is made pursuant to 
an order, issued to them at last Court. But no such order appears. 

The courses and distances first extend roughly south by east about 
2 miles (612) perches)-then due east 1068 perches or about 3'h mile~; 
then "along an old road" either 36 perches or 304 perches, east by nortl,, 
th en due east 308 perches about a mile, then northeast by east by sev­
eral courses, 1270 perches or 4 miles to Buckley's Road . The whole 
course is 11 %, mies. 

These courses and distances place Alexander Sewright in th e neigh­
borhood of Carmargo or New Providence-near Smith's Mill etc., Re ­
wright's appointed as a viewer on Urn Gap to Buckley road discussed 
above (lD. 146) would indicate he lived in the Pequea Valley or toward 
Buckley's. The Quarter sessions index seems to regard this as the road 
from Chestnut Level to Buckley's, petitioned for at February 1736 
Court; ( 1 D. 146) but the cour~es and distances clearly forbid that. If 
the first 2 miles extended northward instead of southward, this might be 
true. 

This road begins as we have stated, somewhere n ear the h ead 
branches of Beaver Creek, then goes south by east about two miles south 
of Quarryville and then turns at right a ngles eastward . near the line be­
tween Colerain, Eden, Bart and then proceeds east by north to the Octo­
raro, about, Nobleville. The latter half of it, corresponds somewhat with 
the "Noble Road" and is considerably south of the "Valley Road." The 
"Old Road" which it passes over, in part was likely a "customary" road. 
The angle where it turns from south to east seems to be about 2 miles 
from present Mechanics Grove . The m a p illustrates its location as called 
fo r by the return of the ·viewers. It is the same as the preceding one just 
o.escribed, b eginning at Che&tnut Level, near Carmargo. 

1736-ROAD, PETER FIERRE'S TO JAMES WHITEHILL'S LINE. 

At May Sessions 173 6 the inhabitants of Sadsbury Township peti t ­
loned for a road from Peter Fierre's land near Isaac Lefever ' s to the 
road laid out from James Whitehill's to the County line. Viewers were 
.according appointed l(D. 156). 

At next Court when return was made (1 D. 169) though the 
courses and distances are not stated Samuel Blythe and Hu.gh Gilliland 
filed a petition objecting that the road was laid out over their land to 
their injury and they aslrnd a review to be ordered and it was so done. 
At the November Court the proceeding was continued (1 D . 183). At 
the Februa ry Court 1737 the report was made and it was named a Roa,! 
from Peter Fierre's land to James Whitehill 's Line. The Whitehill end 
of the road as laid out is "where a road formerly laid out from a public 
road to the County line," erids . The road begins in Fierre's land and ex­
tends southward 526 perches slightly eastward to Samuel Blythe's land, 
about one and two-third miles. We have seen Samuel Blythe· had land on 
Pequea Creek (1 D. 123) n ear w estern boundary of Salisbury township. 

The road then passes through Christopher Griffith's, Stephen Cole's, 
Robert Hoar's, Hugh Gilliland's and to James Whitehill's land a whole 
distance from Fierre 's of 4 %, miles. It ends at or near Prouncial Road 
near County Line. At least James Whit'3hill declares, in an early road pet­
ition that he lives two miles from Provincial Road. He had land nea.r 
Pequea Church. 
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1737- ROAD , PEXTON TO PHILADELPHIA (Clay & Hinkletown Pike). 

on March 24, 17 37 report was m a de to the Governor a nd Council 
that the P exton Road was la id out a nd they approved it a nd it becam e 
a "King's Highway" (4 Col. R ec. 1 81) W e of L a ncaster County know 
this road a s the old Downingtown and H a rrisburg Pike or locally the 
Clay and Hinkletown Pike . The courses a nd distances m ay be found 
fully set out in t he said volume of the Colon ia l Records. It begin s at 
Harris' Ferry a nd ends at Downingtown, being 68 'h miles long ,. It 
strikes La ncaster County at the northwestern corn er of Eliza beth tow 11-
ship about three mile,, northwest of Brickerville . At Brickerville it 
crosses the L a n cast er and Tulpyhocken road, la id out, as we sh a ll see in 
17 42 ( 1 D . 3 2 7) . About thee miles east of Brickerville, it passes through 
Clay a11 the bou·ndary of Clay T ownship where it crosses over Middle 
Creek , as called for, in t h e draft; then continuing south east about five 
miles, it crosses Cocalico, as called for in the draft now at Ephrata. Here 
it a lso crosses the Bear 's Mill and Tulpyho cken Hill, Road, la id out in 
174 8 (2 D . 59 and 62). It then proceeds in the same general direction 
southeast through Murrell, to Hinkletown, a distance of about four m iles 
and crosses the Conestoga at the latter place; about five m iles farth er on 
it reaches B lue Ball and passes through East Earl, F et terville, Sorrel 
Horse, Beartown a nd near Cambridge to and across the -Chester County 
line . At Blue Ball it crosses another "King's Highway", the Lancaster 
a nd Covent r y Iron Worlrn' Road known in part as the New Holland Pike 
la id out in 17 38 by Councils (See 4 Co l. Rec. 2 6 7). The draf t does not men­
tion a ny of the owners of la nd a long the way, It mentions a ll the main 
streams. vVhe re it approaches Caernarvon Town ship; it mentions Cedar 
Run and then Evans' Run and then nothing more 'ti ll the Chester County 
line is r eached . Evans' run is in the southwestern corner of Caernarvon 
Tow nship and N a tha n Evans' Mill was on it, w hich was the terminus of 
another roa d laid out in 17 52 (See 2 D. 86). Cedar Run is mentione d as 
3 3 9 perches west of Evans' Run or about one mile a.nd is near Ceda r 
Lane station on Downing town Railroad. 

1737-ROAD, LANCASTER A.i"'\'D MOUNT PLEASANT. 

At August Court 17 37 (1 D. 205) the inhabita nts a bout ·Drumore 
Township filed a p etition setting forth the n ecessity of a road to lead 
from Conowing o Creek in said Township to La ncaster. Viewers wer0 
appointed to lay it out. Drumore at that time included all of Little B1·it­
ain and Fulton Tow nships At February Court 17 38 Drumore was di <rided 
so that the southeastern half by a line described be called Little Britr, in 
ClD. 221). 

A roa d, apparently was la id out and r eturned by the viewers, hut 
there is no r ecord of the same, in the docket or fil es . Ther e is, appar­
ently, no t erm missing from the docket, but the minutes are not compie~e 
r ecords of each session. At May T erm 17 38 inhabitants of Cones tog~ 
and Ma rtic Townships fil ed a p etition setting forth that a road h a d been 
laid out from Lancaster to Rock Run, a nd that it was la id out to their 
disa dvantage a nd they ask for a review. Such a r eview was orr.ered. 
(1 D. 227). These r eviewers also m ade a return of their proceedings 
and then the inhabitants of Conestoga a nd Lampet er fil ed objections, at 
August Court 17 38 and asked another review, which was ordered (1 D . 
23 3. The first e leven miles a t the Southern end were at ;·.:,n.<ly op•rn.ed 
and the Court did not include tha t p a rt in this second r eview (1 :J. 233) . 

At February Court, 17 39 a r eturn was fina lly m a de of th e r oad ( 1 D. 
241). In the return they r ecite tha t a return wa-, m ade to F ebruary 

I. 
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Court 1737 and confirmed and ready 1., h ~ op8ned e tc., and tha t certain 
alterations were ordered and that they have made a final review of the 
same. Then the courses and distances are therein set out. They begin at 
the top of a hill called "Mount Pleasant" in Little Britain Townshi]) and 
passing northward at a distance of one and a quarter miles it passes Abra­
ham Cullet's plantation, the n ext place called for is the "eleven miles" 
tree; then going seven-eight of a mile farther it r eaches the dwelling 
places of George Caldwell and Andrew Cunningham, and one & one-fourth 
mile farther on Richard Duggan ' s house, at the 13 Miles Tree; it then 
proceeds on northward and the n ext call is the 16 miles tree a little lesr; 
than two miles south of Pequea Creek. It then crosses Pequea Creel, 
"below John Byers's" which is in the neighborhood of Byerland Mennon­
ite Church. It then continues northward along the line between John 
DeHoff and Samuel My~rs and by the west side of Martin Kendig's plant­
tation (part of it .now John B. K endig's farm) and by John Newcomers, 
Jacob Snavely's Christian Ferree's Charles Pippin's, George Gryter's and 
Christian John's in all about 4 miles (1310 perches ) from Pequea Creek 
crossing to Mill Creek, crossing at now Pugh's Mill. Thence it proccects 
by Philip Shollenberger, Stephen Rensbarger, Michael Byerly and 
Thomas Doyle, 280 perches to Conestoga Creek, at what a ppears to be 
Rocklan·d · Street. It then continues north-by-west until it enters 
South Queen Street and then goes up South Queen Street about half a, 
mile to the Court House, which was then in Penn Square. It is 2 :1 
miles long; (bee -line). 

Its starting point was near Pleasant Grove and it proceeded up, the 
Big Conogngo Creek to Buclc; then west of Smithville and of Herrv1i 18, 
and east of Marticville on by Baumgardner's Mill and Baumgardner's 
station and by West Willow and by liollinger's and to Lancaster by the 
route mentioned. From a point below Hensel, on the Little Britain Hn-'il .l. I 
branch p a ssing through Drumore Center, at that point about two miles 
west of the main road passing up Conowingo Valley was opened and 
joined the main line again about two miles southeast of Rawlinsville. 
This branch is about seven miles long and lies on high ground. It is now 
considered the main road. Mount Pleasant was described as near Roel, 
Run in Maryland. A road from Peach Bottom extending eastward and 
crossing the Lancaster and Mount Pleasant Road at a place called for 
fixed the place where the southern portion of the road was located . A 
road from Good's Mill on Pequea also proceeding east by south also lix-
ed its lo cation at that point where it intersects it. The Court House fix-
es the northern end. Therefore the ancient location of the Lancaster 
and Peach Bottom or Pleasant Grove road may be definitely establisherl. 

Mount Pleasant is located in Scott's map of 1824, near Chestnut Lev­
e l, at that date; but the true location of this road is not in doubt. The 
west side of Martin Kendig's plantation makes it definite near West Wil­
(ow, and John Byer's tract also fixes ·it below Baumgardner's. Good's. 
1s now H ess' Mill, known as the Burnt mill. 

1737-ROAD, DAVISON'S TO THE GAP. 

At August Session 1737 Strasburg inhabitant filed a petition in Court 
asking that a road be laid and from the south end of Alexander Davis­
on's land to the public road at Francis Jones. The Court appointed view­
ers for the purpose (1 D. 206). 

Those viewers m a de a report at next sessions (1 D. 215) and returned 
the c ourses and distances of said road, it being in all only 2 amr't°wo-third 
miles long. However, it fixed the residence of certain prominent people. The 
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courses make up an irregular southeast line, beginning at Davison's land, 
thence going by the several courses of a road leading from Peter Ferrie 's 
to the Provincial Road a short distance and finally ending in the Gap road 
at Francis Jones, who lived near Gap as we h ave shown before (1 D. 123). 

1737-ROAJ), HARRIS FERRY TO LANCASTER. 

We have seen that at November Session 1737 (1 D. 58) there was a n 
application for a road from Donegal to Lancaster. The Proceeding seems 
to have failed. 

At the August Sessions of 1737 a record was made that some time 
past, viewers were appointed to lay out a road from Harris Ferry to Lan­
caster and that the viewers have proceeded as far as Powell's Ferry near 
Conowingo; but because the weather ··,ecame so ·cold that viewers quit, 
another set of viewers were asked for and were appointed (1 D. 206) to 
continue laying out the same to Lancaster town. 

No return is recorded in the November session records (1 D. 209). 
But a petition was presented at said session (1 D. 215) by Hempfield 
inhabitants stating that a road was laid out from Pextan to Lancaster 
and that there can be found a much more ready and convenient way and 
they ask for a r eview . The Court appointed new reviewers, and ordere•j 
them to make alterations if they see fit according to the request in the 
petition. Nothing more appears until at February Court 1736, the inhab ­
itants of Donegal pray for a review of so much of the Paxton and Lan­
caster Road as lies between Conewago Creek and the hill at John Kauff­
man ' s and power be given the reviewers to be appointed, to correct lhat 
matter and to preceed with said road towards Lancaster ( 1 D. 240) . The 
Court appointed viewers. 

At May Court, 17 39, the reviewers presented their, report of the roac' 
from John Harris' Ferry or Susquehannna to Lancaster (1 D. 250) and 
they state that the various objections were finally settled. They return (in 
the part of the draft recorded) a road about 3 6 miles long; (but only 18 
miles of the courses and distances appear of record) beginning at said 
River running southwestwardly going a distance of 6 6 9 perches, about 2 
miles and at that point mentioning John Foster; then farther, 1160 perch­
es, about 31h miles, to William Renwick's Run; then farther, %, -mile, to 
Adam Bratten's fence; then 794 perches or 21h miles farther to William 
Craig's field, then farther, 586 perches, about 1 %. miles, to Swatara Creek; 
then farther, 1070 perches or three •and one-third miles to John Powell's 
House, (this lilrnly was at Powell's Ferry in Conoy); then farther, 528 
perches or one and two-third miles to "The Hill"; then farther, 432 perch­
es or one and one-third miles, to 'l'homas Harris' House, and then 
specifying two courses more making about a mile, the record abruptly 
ends . It indicates that the remainder was lost befo.re being r ecorded. 

In August 17 39 the Paxton people wanted their end of this road laiJ. 
on better ground (1 D. 263). 

1738-ROAD, PENNELL'S l\IILL TO KING'S ~.fILL. 

The inhabita nts of Conowingo filed a petition in Court at May Ses­
sions 1738 setting forth the necessity of a road from Caleb Pennell's Turn ­
ing Mill, near the mouth of Peter's Creek to James King's Mill on Cono­
wingo Creek (1 D. 227) and to continue it till tt m eets the road leading 
-from King's Mill to Octoraro. This latter road we have heretofore dis­
cussed (See Road dated. 1734; see also 1 D. 98). The Court appointed 
the reviewers asked for. These viewers made their report at Augusi: 
Sessions ( 1 D. 2 3 2) . They began at the Pier-Head of Pennell's Mill , 
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thence passed up the Mill race, on the north side, of P eter 's Creek 110 
perches to the creek, thence over the Creek a nd thence fa rther on over 
the south branch of the Forks of the Creek, thence on to William Steel':; 
plantation and farther on over a branch called "Puddle-Doclc" about a 
mile from the forks and thence on east by north to a point 647 perches 
from the first crossing of Peter's Creek where it cro1<ses the Lancaster 
a nd Mt. Pleasant Road (the reby fixing said last n a med road at tha t poi~t); 
thence, to Hugh Patrick's and on to Big Conowingo Creelc, at Jarr,es 
King's Mill to meet the road from his Mill' to Octoraro. 

1738-ROAD, JUNG'S MILL TO FALEN'l'J.NE FORD (OCTORARO) 

In 1738 presumably at August Sessions, (But See ID. 233) the in­
habitants of Little Britain township filed a petition setting forth that ~ome 
time before, a road was laid out fro '.1 James King's Mill to Octoraro (See 
Road Ante, 1 D. 98); but that it ends at a point on Octoraro Creek, 
where no road from Chester County meets it. They pray for another to 

· be laid ·out, from said Mill to Falentine Ford lower down Octoraro wher,~ 
the road la id out from Henry Reynold's Mill in Chester County, will meet 
it. The Court appointed viewers. 

At Novembe r Court (1 D. 228) they la id out a road as prayed for 
running southeastwardly from King 's Mill on Conowingo. It passe d 
James Morrison and Robert Anderson and proceP,ded to Falentine Ford, 
where the road from Henry Reynold's MiU met it. 

This report is written in the docket under May Sessions; but it be­
longs to the r ecords of November Sessions, since the petition is in the 
August Sessions, unless the petition belongs under February Session'R 
minutes. 

1738-ROAD, OCTORARO FORKS TO l\IlDDLE OCTORARO CHURCH. 

At August Court 17 38, there . is a record of a petition of the inhabi­
tants of Middle Octoraro in Drumore Township setting forth their hard­
ships and inconvenience for want of a road to Meeting-House, Mills and 
Lancaster Town. They pray that a road may be laid out from Samuel 
Fulton's plantation near said Creel< to Lancaster and likewise to a branch 
near the center of the inhabitants to lead to Buckley's Mill . Viewers 
were appointed to lay out a road from said Fulton's to the road leading 
to said Mill near Henry Frye's or Frye's, and to branch to said Mill, near 
Daniel McConnel 's; and to make report (1 D. 234). "Sa id Creek," must 
refer to Middle Qctoraro. The western branch of Octoraro forks; anj the 
larger, or eastern forl{ passes or flows, down between the East01·n 
Branch and the rest of the Western Branch. It flows southward throug·h 
the mid de of present Bart Township-at that time, Sadsbury Township; 
of February 1738 set out, in a petition of the inhabitants about the "Forks 
hence it is "Middle Octoraro." 

Tl.te records of November . 1738 Court are missing; but the minutes 
of February 173 9 are set out in a petition •of the inhabitants about the 
"Fork of Octoraro", that road was laid out pursuant to an Order to August 
Term from Samuel Fulton's plantation towards Lancaster and the inhabi­
tants did not have notice of the same. It is further stated that, the road 
so laid out parallels anothe r road not a mile distant_ in part. Viewe,rs 
were asked, for a remedy of this and were appointed. This proves that 
the first viewers did lay out a road. 

The second viewers so appointed, laid out the roads asked for and· 
made return to May Court 1739 (See 1 D . 249). The road laid out be­
gins at Fulton's plantation and it trends northward by John McConnell's 
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and Hugh Buckley's by Mathew Patten's on to John Reid's ground and on 
to a road formerly laid out, being to this point, about 3 'h miles; it then 
goes down through "a stony valley" to "Cotter's Creek" and one branch 
bears toward L a,ncaster a nd the other toward the Buckley's Mill roa<l. 
N ear the beginning of the road, just after Hugh B ark ley's land is passed, 
a no rthwest course 01' h a lf a mile leads to "School House Branch." 

This is a v er y interesting road . The Middle Octoraro Meeting-
House is the one on Meeting House Bra nch of Middle Octoraro. The 
Schoo l House Branch is one a little farther south. No doubt it was a. 
Church School. But we h ave no evidence of tha t fact in these r ecords. 
The "Stony Valley" is one to the north of the Meeting House in the <li­
r etion of the Old Copper Mines. 

There is some haziness as to just where Fulton's plantation is, but it 
is stated to be at the "Forks of Octoraro" a nd that can mean only the 
point where Meeting House Branch joins the m a in west branch of Oc­
tara ro. See same ·on the map designated " 1-249" etc. 

1738- ROAD, GIBSON'S TO PROVINCIAL ROAD (SALISBURY) 
At August Sessions 17 38 the inhabitants of Salisbury township pre­

sented a petition setting forth the n ecessity for a roa d to mill and mar-. 
k et; a nd that the same may be la id out from the north side of Geor,:-d 
Gibson's land to the Provincial Road from Lancaster to Philadelphia, 
opposite William Richardson's ·1and and leading to Jarvis Mill. Viewers 
were a ppointed for the purpose (1 D. 234). The November 1738 rec­
ords are lost and what was done a t that Court in this road matter cannot 
be disc_overed. No return was made at February Court, a nd further in­
format10n on this roa d cannot be had. 

1738-ROAD, LANCASTER AND COVENTRY IRON WORKS. 

At the meeting of the Governor and Council on January 4, 17 38 (See. 
4 Col. Rec. 267) they approved as a "King's Highway" the road laid out 
by their order, from B enjamin Witmer's near La ncaster (on the La n cas­
ter High Road) to Coventry Iron Works on Fren ch Creek. A part ·of this. 
road from Mechanicsburg to New Holla nd, was later the New Holla nJ 
Pike. The road ask ed for began about the same place on the Old Provin­
cial Road, where the n ew State Highway leaves that road (near Witmer's 
residence today) and struck north-by-east to Mechanicsburg. It theil 
continued eastwardly-by-north a nd intersected the Cla y and Hinkletow n. 
Turnpike, that is the Old Paxton Road about two miles northwest of 
Blue Ball, leaving New Holla nd a mile to the south. TheI\ it adopted the­
Paxton Roa d to Blue Ball and then again turned east-by-north into Caer­
narvon Township by Evans' Mill and along the Conestoga by Churchtown. 
by Morgantown a nd on to French Creek. It is strange that, it should not 
have gone through New Holland ; but the courses and distances lea d it 
north of that town . The viewers appointed to lay it out were m en of 
eminence in those days. Those for the La ncaster end were: Thomas. 
Edwards, Jacob Bear, Ema nuel Carpenter, H a ns Groff, Simon King and. 
John Mendenhall. 

The proceedings recite that a petition of sundry inhabita nts of L a n-. 
caster County, was presented and read January 1737, setting forth the­
want of a high road from the town of L a n.caster to Coventry Iron Works. 
on French Creek, in Chester County, praying for viewers, et c. , therefore. 
viewers were appointed etc. This road was the r esult. 

The persons n a m ed a long its course were Benjamin Witmer a t the­
starting point; J acob Heller (near n ow Mechanicsburg), George Line, An­
drew Meixel, Hans Good, Philip Sheaffer, Casper Stofer, Michael Ranck. 
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Jacob Weaver and others. These a r e within that stretch which lies be­
tween Mech a nicsburg and Blue Ball. Further on E van David 's Run 
is m ention ed a nd John Mendenhall both in E a st Earl. Then comes Nathan 
Eva ns' land, at the w estern edge of Caernarvon Township and then the 
Upper branches of the Conestoga are r eac):led a nd the various r esidents of 
Caernarvon W e lsh s ettlement, a mong them: George Hudson, Thomas 
Willia ms, John Bow an, Thomas Morga n, Robert Ellis and others are 
m entioned . It fina lly r ea ch es the county line a nd p a sses on to French 
CreeK. 

1739-ROAD, McELWAThTE (E. EARL) TO PROVINCIAL ROAD. 

At Novemb er Court 17 38 a petition was presented, aslcin5 for a road 
from John McE!waine's on Paxton Road, southward, past the Pequea 
Presbyterian Church and on to the Provincial Road a short distance wei,t 
of Cains. On this p etition viewers were a ppointed . The Noverub<c.r 
Court proceedings, as we have said, are lost, but the records of May 1739 , 
state that such p etition was filed. The viewers fil e~ their r eport at 
May term and therein set forth that the road as laid out by them begins 
in Paxton Roa d a t John McE!waine 's. It proceeds southe rly by courses 
and dista nces 1276 perches or 4 miles to the Meeting House and thence 
farther 1 2-3 miles or 560 perches to the King's Highway at the West­
ern end of Daniel Cookson's, containing in all about 5 2-3 miles . The 
Court confirmed the road. The starting point is East Earl. (See 1 D. 248.) 

1739- ROAD, LANCASTER TO JACOB BEAR'S l\fiLL. 

At May Term 1736 a r eport of viewe rs appointed to lay out a public 
road from Lancaste r to Jacob Bear's Mill appears . There is no record of 
the a ppointment of such viewers but such aPpointment may have been 
made at a session of which the r ecord was lost . This r eport (1 D . . 250) 
sets forth the courses and distances beginning at the street " at the cor­
ner of the town square," joining on land of H enry Funk, thence along be­
tween Funk's land ·anci Jacob Nutt in a northeast direction first by n. 
course north 50 degrees, east 300 perches, thence by irregular courses gen ­
erally north-east 100 perches to Jacob Funk's meadow, thence by courses 
north-east 139 p erches to John Davies House and then generally north-east 
about 3 miles farther to Jacob B ear's Mill, on Carter's Run at Oregon. 
This will be r ecognized ,as, in part, the present Oregon or Catfish Pike, 
part of the Ephrata road . 

This road meets the Gap to Bear's Mill Road at Bear's Mill. In 
1748 the extension of this road through Ephrata and · into . Berks County 
was laid out (2 D. 62) Carter's Creek is mentioned (1 D. 293). 

In May Court 17 45 a petition was filed, setting out that this road 
was inconvenient and that a better one could be had. The Court ap­
pointed viewers to review it and they reported at August Court beginning 
at Jacob Bear's Mill, and pursuing a more westerly course they lay it out 
passing Philip Knight's and John Snavely's land and intersecting the 
Lancaster and Lititz Road (Called the road from Jacob Huber's to Lan­
caster) making the whole distance 4 'h miles, thereby saving a mile of the 
length. It would seem that the southern end of this reviewed road is the 
one in use today, as the old one of 1736 cut north-eastwardly from Penn 
Square and lay in a. different place, ( 2 D . 1 7). 

1739- ROAD, CHESTNUT LEVEL TO PEACH BOTTOM. 

At May Sessions 1739 the inhabitants of Drumore Township present­
ed a petition praying that a road be laid out, from the Lancaster and 



D 

(58) 

Mount Pleasant road about a mile n orth of Chestnut Level Church to 
Peter's Creek and Susquehanna, reaching Peter's Creek at Sheep Pen 
Ford. Viewers were appointed (1 D. 2 5 2) . These viewers reported Rt 
August Court (1 D. 265) and the draft returned set forth a road begin­
ning at Adam Tate's plantation in the Lancaster and Mount Pleasant road. 
Thence they proceed southward by several courses 454 perches to the 
Presbyterian Meeting House, passing lands of Wil:liam- Ritchie on the 
way. They then proceed south-by-west by short distances and courses 
by William Cheny's, James Morrison's, Nathaniel "Wiltshire's and Jed­
ed iah Alexander's to Caleb Fennel's about four miles on to Peter's Creek; 
beyond this point near the mouth of Peters Creek they proceed southeast 
about a mile, to an old road formerly laid out by Cecil County Court frc,m 
Rock Run to Peach Bottom ,and by this means reach Peach Bottom. 
This will be recognized today as the road leading off diagonally to the 
west from the main Lancaster and Pleasant Grove road near the point 
where the road to M echanics Grove leaves the said road passing at ·r ight 
angles to the east. It is tl;le branch which leads by Chestnut Level Church, 
today to Peter 's Cre'ek and Peach Bottom. 

We note here that Chestnut Level is not called Mount Pleasant Level 
as it was nearly a hundred years later, as may be seen in Scott's mav of 
Lancaster County, dated 1824. 

1739- R.OAD, BAINilRIDGE TO MOUNT JOY. 

At May Court 1739 inhabitants of Donegal and others filed the1r 
petition asking persons to be appointed to lay out a road from the Lan­
caster and Pextan Road to the Susquehanna at Jonathan Davenport's 
plantation. Viewers were accordingly appointed (1 D. 252). 

The matter of this road seems to have lain dormant for nearly 3 
years. Then at February Court 1742 (1 D . 325) a petition was present­
ed by Thomas .Wilkins setting forth that the orders to lay out the road 
from Jonah Davenport's on Susquehanna a nd the Pextan Road had not 
been ·acted on and other viewers were asked for·. The Court accordingly 
appointed new viewers. 

At August Court 17 42, report was made on this road ( 2 D. 2 4) . It 
is stated to begin at Logan's Ferry on Susquehanna a nd proceeded al- · 
most due east by a line bulging northward about a mile and a half, to 
Conoy Creek, passing John Galbraith's old field on the way; then on­
ward 1180 perches, (3 and two-third miles) to Donegal Church and farther 
ori by Janies Cain, Samuel Smith and Jos. Work, 766 perches or 2 and one­
third miles, stated as being 220 perches west of Little Chickies Creek. It 
was laid out by Arthur Patterson, Lavey Lowry, Gordon Howard, Andrew 
Boggs and Samuel Trott. It extends from Bainbridge to Mount Joy. 

1739- ROAD, POSTLETHWAITE'S TO L .ANCASTER. 

At August Sessions 1739 the inhabitants of Hempfield and Conestoga 
filed a petition praying that viewers be appointed to lay out a road from 

Conestoga Creek at John Postlethwaite's Mill to t he town of Lancaster . 
The Co urt appointed John Postlethwaite, Joshua Low, Abram Hare, Alex­
" nder Ritchie, John Myers and William Wright and ordered them to lay 
out the same, if they saw need for it. (1 D. 265). 

There are no further proceedings to be found in the matter. It can­
' "t be known whether the first road t.o Lancaster was that by way ot 
Blue Rock road, laid out by Millersville to Lancaster, jn 1742; see infra 
or 1:jY way ·of New Danville using Old Conestoga Road as part of the way. 
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1739-ROAD, SPRING GARDEN TO PENRYN. 

At November Session 1739 the inhabitants of Warwick and others 
filed, a petition setting forth the great need of a road from the King's 
Road near Joseph Jervis's westerly by John Eby's Mill and Elias Myer's 
Mill and as far as George Abey's Mill and farther if need be. The Court 
appointed Gabriel Carpenter, William Richardson, Christian Long, Jacob 
Huber, John Kingey, and Samuel Bear as viewers to lay same out and 
report (1 D. 275). 

February Court of 17 40 ( 1 D. 279), upon return made, by the view­
ers above appointed the petition of inhabitants of Cocalico Township 
was presented, setting forth, that the road was laid out and as laid out 
was of little use; but that the same may be remedied, by laying out the 
same from Jarvis' to John Abey's and then between Sheaffer's and Mu~­
selman's by Hans Groff's and Abraham Deer's to George Abey's. The 
Court appointed reviewers to examine into the matter and report ( 1 D. 
279). The return made which was objected to, does not appear among 
the records. 

At May Sessions of 1740 (1 D. 87) it was stated that the viewers have 
made no report on this road; and another petition was presented setting 
forth that the road, if laid out by .Jacob Bear's Mill on Carter's Creek, 
would be less hurtful and of much advantage and they pray other view­
ers be appointed. And the Court appointed Rudy Berne, John Sterrett, 
James Jackson, John Davies (fuller) James Smith and Philip Shaffer, a 
set of men mostly from a distance, as viewers. 

At August Sessions 17 40 the inhabitants of Warwick and others, filed 
a petition stating that the "old road which was made and used in early 
times would answer the inhabitants better than that already, (recently) 
laid through their township from Joseph Jervfs's to a road near Michael 
Betley's "and they ask tha t the same be viewed by the persons appointed 
to review the road laid out t o Jacob Bear's Mill. The Court so appllinted 
them and ordered that "if they see cause, to regulate Peter 's Road 1.o 
Carter's Creek and from thence to lay out a road to or near Michael 
Betley's by courses and distances and make return"; (1 D. 293). 

This road case seems to have became a contest between Cocalic0 
and Warwick Townships. It will be observed that, both sets of citizcr..s 
filed petitions. We note that it is here also definitely stated that .Tacob 
Bear's Mill was on Carter's Creek. It should be noticed, also that, Peter's 
Road is mentioned by name, by the Court and is called "the old road 
used in early times" by the petitioners. We ~all attention also to the 
fact that the Old Road, laid out by the Chester County Court in 1726 (2 D. 
6) for a large part of its way, lay in this locality. One asks why (when 
at least three roads across these valleys, were used some laid out ar.cl 
some not) why this agitation for another? 

· At November Sessions 17 40, the re-viewers finally . returned a road, 
twenty-one and three-fourths miles long (1 D. 300). I beg you to notice 
that the original draft of this road may be found in the office. It is one 
of the few papers yet to be found concerning the Court proceedings at 
these early dates. 

The report recites that, uPon a petition of the inhabitants 
of Warwick to November Sessions 17 39, there was an . order to lay out 
a :road from Jos. Jervis's, to a private way leading to Pextan road, not 
far from Michael Betley's which road after several petitions and reviews 
was confirmed this present sessions and ordered to be recorded. '.rim 
courses of the same follow the report stating that the begin­
ning point is one half mile west of Jos. Jervis's Mill on the Provincial 
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Road. Thence it follows in a north and gradually curving westerly curve. 
passing over land of William Richardson, James Mccurdy, J~mes Young, 
John Abey's Mill, on Mill Creek, about 2 miles south of :New Holland and 
about 5 miles west-by-north of the starting point of this road. James 
Young ' s is about half way between Jervis' end and Abey's, Jervis' Mill the 
starting point is at Spring Garden in Salisbury Township. As the road. 
proceeds west by north from Abey's Mill, at a point 440 perches distant, it 
strikes "the old road." From the map it is apparent that is Old Peter's 
Road. At distance of about 6 mil es north, about 60 degrees west, it 
crosses Conestoga Creek about a mile and a quarter· west of Samuel 
Groff, and Christ W enge r's line . It crossed the Conestoga abo ut two miles 
above the fork, made by Cocalico Creek and also the same distance abov€, 
Old Peter's Road, the Road of 1726 and the Leacock-Earl Line . It 
crosses about 5 miles above Bear's Mill and 2 miles above Brownstown. 
Then, after crossing land of Edward Furniss and John Smith, about 540 
perches or less than 2 miles beyond Conestoga it crosses Cocalico CrePk. 
It runs thence by same direction past Michael Bowers' and Ulrich Huber's 
run and thence to the line of Jacob Huber and Christian Bomberger · 
about 5 miles west of the Cocalico crossing, where it crosses the Lancas­
ter, Lititz and Brickerville Road, a little less than 3 miles south of Brick­
erville. At this road-crossing point Jived Jacob Huber iron master anrl 
very successful and prominent, or at least he had land there. The point 
is about 1 ,i miles north of Lititz. From this point it extends north -wei,t 
about 311,, miles nearly to Penryn, to a point where according to the rec­
ord after passing over Jacob Conrad's and Adam Keene's land, it ends in 
an unlaid out road leading into ·paxtan Road. 

This was one of the great and important roads of the County. 

1 740- ROAD, CRAIGHEAD'S (MIDDLE OCTORARO CJ;[URCH) 
TO Sl\HTH'S J\HLL. 

At February Sessions 17 40 inhabitants of Martic and Sadsbury Town­
ships filed a petition forth that they had n·o road either to meeting, 
mill or market, and asked that viewers be appoin ted to lay out a road 
from John Small ' s by James Dunwoody's to the Great Road opposite to 
Craighead ' s Meeting House. The Court appointed John Ewing, Ann.rew 
Work, Joshua McKinnie Alexander Work, James McCracken and Samuel 
Kyle to view the same and report. (1 D. 280.) ,..... -------. 

No action was had on this till May Term 1741 (1 D. 307) when the 
viewers reported that as ,to a road from the Great Road leading to Wil­
liam Smith ' s Mill, theyJ laid out the same beginning at Craighead's Meet­
ing House and extending on a west-northwest course four miles and a 
quarter to great road leading to said Smith's Mill. The Court confirmed 
the same. That Middle Octoraro Church is meant is further evident 
from the fact that Alexander Craighead was pastor there from 1735 to 
1749. See Presbytery minutes. 

1740- ROAD, PENNEL'S TO J\HLES FORD. 

At August Sessions 1740 inhabitants of Little Britain filed a petition 
setting forth the need of a road beginning at Caleb Pennell's thence over 
Britain Ford over lower Conowingo, and thence by J ames Porter's store­
and on till it met a road in Chester County to Miles Ford on Octoraro. 
The Court oppointed viewers ( 1 D. 2 9 3) . 

. At November Sessions they filed their report (1 D. 298), following 
the course aisked for, stating that they begin at or near Fennel's at the 
northeast corner of a field called Slate Hill or (State Hill); thence by 
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William McDowell's and on over Conowingo n early four miles away, at 
Britain Ford, now Little Texas, thence to a road leading from Pat Ewing 
to Miles Ford and on to James Porter's store by N a thaniel Ewing's and 
John Stoll's to Octoraro Creek, then up sam e about 1-6 of a mile lo 
Miles Ford over the same. The same was confirmed. 

1740-ROAD, BANGOR CHURCH TO COMPASS CHURCH. 

At August Sessions 1740 (1 D . 293) dive rs of the Congregation of 
B a ngor Church in Caern arvon Township filed a petition, setting forth the 
n eed of a roa d , from said church to the P equ ea Church. The Court a p­
pointed John Morga n, Thomas Morgan, Edward Berwick, Andrew Doug­
lass, J erard Graham, and John D a vies to view same, the most convenier,t 
way from Bangor to the King's Road n ear .John Miller's· and Pequeil. 
Church. 

The viewers reported at Novembe r sessions (1 D. 299) a road b egin­
ning a t Bangor Church, thence west by south 320 p erches, one mile a long 
the Great Road, thence south-ward by various courses and distances 
crossing over branches of Conestoga, on east of Beartown into Salisbury 
Township at the north-east corner and then over the head b ran ch es of 
Brandywine Creek and by Cambridge and on, almost directly south, 
about a half mile from the eastern boundary of the County to the King ·s 
Road, nea r Compass, about Cains. The · whole was eight and one half 
miles long. 

1741-ROAD, SMITH'S MILL TO EWING FORD. 

At May Sessions 1741, a petition of divers inhabitants of Lancas t.er 
County was fil ed setting forth the "need of a road from William Smith's 
Mill on Beave r Creek, to a Ford on Octo:r,a ro called Ewing's, from whence 
there is a way open to William Brown's Mill." The Court appointed John 
Hare, Jr., William Smith, Martin Meilin, Jr., Andrew Caldwell, (of Dru­
more ), James Jackson a nd Caleb P ennock, a s viewers. (1 D. 308.) 

They made report at August Court beginning at the said Ewing's 
Ford and thence by a north-west course mentioning courses and distances 
bu t not n a ming any streams crossed nor land owners, to ·William Smith's 
Mil 1; a nd the same was confirmed and ordered to be _opened. ( See 1 D. 
314) William Smith's mill was in Martic, now Providence Township at 
N ew Providence. It cannot have been at Carmargo because that is in 
0-: den Tow nship. That Smith's Mill was in Martic Township (See 1 D. 
7 3). The courses of this road lay along west b:r,anch of Octoraro and it 
b egan on Octoraro at Spruce Grove. It ran to White Rock and Pusey­
ville, Collins, Quarryville, and New Providence. At Smith's Mill it was 
joined by · a road laid out a little later directly leading to King's Road at 
Conestoga Creek east end of Lancaster ( 2 D. 44 and 1 O 3) . 

The Nelson Ferry -road ended in this Smith's Mill to Ewing's road at 
Brown's Mill n ear Puseyville. (See 2 D. 69.) As above stated, the road 
from Octoraro to Brown's Mill (Puseyville), had already been in use . 

1741-ROAD, ~LUE ROCK TO LANCASTER. 

At May Sessions 1741 John Ross the owner of Blue Rock Ferry and 
other inhabitants filed a petition setting forth the want of a road to be 
laid out from Lancaster to said Ferry and asked viewers to be appoi.r:ited 
(1 D. 308) and viewers were accordingly appointed. 

These viewers delayed action and at Novembe-r Sessions 17 41 said 
John Ross of Hempfield Township , represented to the Court that the 
viewers to lay out the Blue Rock road had neglected to act and asked the · 
Court to appoint others . '.rhey were appointed (1 D. 321). 
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At May Sessions 1742 ( 2 D. 2 3) a return of this road was made and 
the courses begin at Blue Rock, near John Ross and as the courses arc 
few I will give them as follows: N. 60 degrees east, 154 perches; N. 72 
degrees east, 40 perches; north 73 degrees east 181 perches; north 63 
degrees, east 288 perches; north 52 degrees, east 215 perches, the whole 
951 perches or about 3 miles to Martin Fun!{'s Run. This is the west branch 
of Little Conestoga'; 16 perches farther on Jacob Hostetter ' s line is reach­
ed, then it follows Hostetter's line north by east 268 perches; then 136 
perches to North East Branch. In these courses, it passed through now 
Central Manor and Windom . This North East Branch is a small stream 
flowing into Little Conestoga, the point is near said creelc Then the course 
is south-by-east about a mile, 330 Pe rches, to Little Conestoga at the north­
ern end of Millersville. It then continues east 41 perches and north 80 de­
grees east, 180 perches through Millersville; north 58 degrees, east 900 per­
ches; (the late Millersville ·Turnpike) to a corner of William Hamilton's 
Fence, at the end of present Manor Street; thence it continues in Ma.nor 
Street 118 perches to West King Street the road leading from John 
Wright's· Ferry to Lancaster. The whole is &tated to be 8 miles and 191 
perches long. 

1741- ROAD, LANCASTER (LITITZ) '1'0 TULPYHOOKEN. 

At August Sessions 17 41 inhabitants of Warwick and Tulpyho0ken 
filed a petition setting forth the need of a road f:om the town of Lancas­
ter to Tulpyhocken to lead by George Lyttle's Spring and Durst Thomas, 
and they ask for viewers. The Court appointed Jacob Slaugh, George 
Lyttle, Jacob Huber, Bastian Royer, Adam Stumpf, and George Grove to 
view the same and make report (1 D. 315). At the November Court (1 
D. 320) report was made that the viewers had not acted or completed 
the view and some others were asked for and all of them were dropped 
except Jacob Huber. 

At the February Court 1742 the viewers, last appointed, laid out sa.id 
road and reported. (l D. 327). They begin at the Court House and pass 
along Queen Street, north 3 degrees west-to the end of Mr. Hamilton's 
field thence north 25 degrees, east 179 perches to the line of the town lots. 
Then the General course is northward and the first point mentioned is 
George Lyttle's Creek which seems to be a point a short distance soutl1 of 
Lititz. The road then passes on about a mUe farther-to the road be­
tween Jacob Huber and Christian Bomberger, which is at the Spring Gard­
en and Penryn road we have described above; then 111., miles farther on, 
it reaches Lawrence Hoff's line and a little distance farther north crosses 
a. creek by John Brubaker's land which seemE to be Hammer Creek a.bout 
2 miles south of Brickerville. Then it crosses the Pextan road at 
Brickerville which the courses and distances do not menticn. 
Two miles beyond Brickerville (north) it mentions the "beginning of 
the hill" or mountains about the boundary. Another small 
creek is noted a mile farther on-a branch of Middle Creel, 
and about 2 'h miles farther on beyond the County Line north Durst 
Thomas's Run and Peter Becker's lands are noted and a mile farther on 
the "Swamp". Then about two miles farther north it crosses the main 
stream of Upper Middle Creek and then · turns north-eastward a dis.tance 
of about 4 miles to Tulpyhocken into the Great Road leading from Har­
risburg to Reading. 

1742- ROAD, :MATHEW ATKINSON'S MILL TO LANCASTER. 

At August Sessions 17 42 an order was granted to certain viewers to 
lay out a road from Mathew Atkinson's Mill to the road at ~shua Baker's 

I 
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leading from Lancaster. The courses and distances were: beginning at 
Atkinson's door thence south 28 degrees, west 70 perches, south 10 de­
grees, west .30 perches, south 3 degrees, west 63 perches, south 15 degrees, 
east 46 perches, south 13 degrees, east 20 perches, south 30 degr ees, west 
32 perches, south 50 degrees, west 5 perches to Joshua Baker 's plantation, 
then south 48 degrees, west 36 perches into said road." < 2 D. 21) . 

There is nothing to show where this ending point was with r eference 
to Lancaster and therefore I have set .out the courses and distances. 
There was an application made as appears in Docket No . 1 by Steph•m 
Atkinson for a road from his mill to Lancase r but it was withdrawn. 

1742-ROAD, BLAINSPORT TO CHURCHTOWN 

A return to court was m ade in 1743 of a draft of a road from near 
Blainsport to Bangor Church, pursua nt to an order issued_ at November 
Sessions 1742. The v-iewers were John Carpenter, E verh ard Ream, John 
Rubler, Jacob Browner, Henry Mowrer and Philip Evans. It called for 
a beginning at foot of Tulpyhocken Hills to begin on the most proper place 
between the western spring of the main branch of Cocalico a nd the h ead 
of Cocusyn and from thence to lead down toward the forks of Murldy 
Creek and by the, house of Edward Edwards unto the next road that 
leads to Philadelphia (2 D. 21.) 

The survey and draft begin the courses and distances at a spring near 
the foot of Tulpyhocken Hill near the old road and the only place it re­
fers to a stream is where a t a distance from the start of 694 perches _ or 
2 1-6 miles it calls for a mill da m . This would seem to b e at a branch 
of Swa mp Creek n ear where it crosses the Ephrata and Reading Rc,ad 
near R einholds. Its course is generally southeast but it makes a slight 
compound curve or inve rted "S" in the first half budging to the east and 
in the second or southe rn half convexing west. The whole is 1 7 miles and 
12 perches, a bout 16 miles bee-line . It passes near by Adamstown, Schwa rtz­
v ille, Muddy Creek a nd Spring Grove and then to its end at Church­
town. The calls a long its course are all trees. No streams or other roads 
are noted at all. It crosses the northern or smaller branch of Muddy 
Creek at Adamstown n ear the County line, but the southern or larger 
branch about 4 miles south west of the county line and crosses a small 
northeast corner of East Earl Township. 

Note: In Do cket No. 2, the pages called for are found in the part of 
the docket devoted to roads, near the midd1e of the book. That part of 
the docke t is 111.arlrnd by corners of the pages clipPed. The docket re­
ferre•d to is the recopie d docket. 

1743-ROAD, MARIETTA TO LANCASTER GREAT ROAD 

In 17 ~3 viewers heretofore appointed, whose appointment the re­
cords do not show, m a de return of a road laid out from Anderson's Ferry 
on Susquehanna, nea r Marietta, towards Lancaster (2 D. 28.) 

Beginning at Anderson's Ferry at the house of James Anderson the 
course is north from 70 to 80 degrees east by Mr. Ewing and Nath. Lit­
tle's to H enry Viler's (Welle r's) land a little less than 5 miles. From then ce 
"the courses of an old road 3 7 4 perches" and thence by other courses 

· mentioned curving gradually a little south of east, a total of 9 28 perch•~s 
east of Viler's , or a little less than 3 miles to Peter Good 's line; thence by 
his line about 1-3 mile and and then south east 120 perches farther on 
to the Lancaster Great Road. The whole is 7 miles and 134 perr.hes 
long. The courses and distances of this road would make it strike th~ 
Harrisburg pike about two miles southeast of Landisville about Bamford-
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v.ille. It lay in the neighborhood of Kinderhook, but was north of Silver 
.Springs. The western end, however, east to Silver Springs, may be the 
western part to present Marietta Turnpike. 

1743-ROAD, GAP MOUNTAIN TO MOORE'S MILL ROAD 

A curious road beginning in the eastern part of Paradise Township 
.a~out a mile south of old Conestoga road on the ·old Daugherty, (now 
widow Daugherty) to Buckley Mill Road, and then extending by a great 
number of short irreg ular courses in a n easterly direction about 20 degrees 
south of east, a distance of about 4 'h miles, through Sadsbury Townsltlp 
to a point near Cooperville and then curving roughly east and northeast 
into Christiana, was laid out in 1743 by virtue of a n order issued at Aug ­
ust Sessions 17 34 (2 D. 29). It began as it states at the Buckley road at 
'.3' point on "Gap Mountain" and the only point it mentioned in its course 
is Andrew Moore 's and an old road, the ·old "Valley Road" which it fol­
lows a short distance where it begins to curve east and more and mor•3 
north east, toward its eastern end. It ends in a road "leading from An­
drew Moore's Mill to · the Gap". It is 7 miles and 4 perches long. It 
seems to duplicate other roads in that county and we cannot tell whether 
it was opened or not. 

1743-ROAD, UNICORN TO KINSEYVILLE (MILES FORD) 

In pursuance of an order issued at May sessions 1743 (2 D. 100) a 
report was made dated July 1 ;i,nd pr€1Sented to August Court of a road 
from a road called Brown's· Road in Drumore Township, to Miles Ford on 
Octorara in Little Britain . It began where the Brown's Road forked 
toward James Gill epsie's and it took a general southerly course and 
passing William Montgomery's and passing Samuel Gibson's. reached Little 
Conowingo about 5 miles from starting point. Farther on, it reached San,­
uel Scott's. It then passed on south by Joseph Adaire's and Robert Gleim's. 
Farther on about 3 miles by a very crooked course from its crossing over 
Little Oonowingo it intersected the road from ·Caleb Fennel's to Miles 
Ford and then ·followed that road to Miles Ford and on into Maryland. 
It was reviewed in part a year later in 1744 ( 2 D. 3 3) 'but not greatly 
changed. Its starting point was about half a mile east of Unicorn and 
.a mile a nd a half w est of Puseyville at which place Brown's Mill stood. 

1744-ROAD, JAMES MOORE TO BLYTHE'S l\ULL. 

In 174 4 a return of a road was =ad€• by virtue of an order of Court 
therein recited from James Moore's to Blythe's Mill. It begins at Francis 
.Jones' lane in Salisbury Township, or near Conestoga Road. It proceeds 
thence east by north 388 Perches, thence by Joseph Bainnett's and Robt. 
Smith's land east half a mile and thence on, east slightly north, 530 perches 
a little more than 1 'h miles to Blythe's Mill. The whole road was three 
miles and 72 perchEs long. It was surveyed Sept 6, 1744 and evidently 
returned to November Court 1744 (2 D. 35). This Blythe's Mill would 
seem to have been located on the large tributary which flows into PequE-a 
Creek from the, south about Paradis·~. the mill being practically north 
of Gap. 

1745-ROAD, INTERCOURSE TO NOBLEVILLE 

At May Court, 1745, a road was returned pursuant to an order is­
sued at February Court, directing a road to be laid out from John Ve,r­
nor 's land on the Provincial Road from Lancaster to Philadelphia, to a 
certain water corn merchants' mill belonging to Caleb Pierce, George 
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Churchman and Aaron Musgrove and from there to the county line lea<'l­
ing towards the landing. 

The viewers return that they begin at the point stated which is it:! 
the neighborhood half mile east of Intercourse today, as the courses and 
distances require it. Thence, the!Y proceed south 100 perches . and then 
stril{e southeast a whole distance of about 2 miles, where they cross Pe­
quea Creel{ and in this distance they note Wm. McCausland's land. They 
then proceed in a southeasterly direction and just beyond Pequea they 
pass Isaac Lefever's mill and race, then John Jones' land and on about. 
two miles, Charles Parkett's land. About 11h miles beyond Pequea, they 
cross old Conestoga road, a distance east of Daugherty's, nearly a mile· 
east; then proceeding furthe r south somewhat east, they strike the old 
Daugherty' to Buckley Road at the northern boundary of B a rt Township 
about 'h mile west of the• eastern edge of the township; then they folloVI~ 
the Buckley road 2-3 of a mile or more; then the course is more nP.arly 
southward about a mile to the "Mountain road to Moore's Mill" and from. 
that point onward the course strikes southward and gradually curve;,. 
southeast to the Pieirce Mill and then easterly about half a mile to Octo­
rara about a mile below Nobleville and 1h a mile above Buckley's to the­
mouth of Valley Run. By a bee line the road would be about 10 miles 
long (2 D. 36). 

We make note here that the position of this road is wrong on the 
small map. It begins at Provincial Road and courses southeasterly, whereas. 
in the map its beginning point is marked nearly 3 miles north of the 
Provincial Road at another Hatwell Vernons plantation. The whole· 
should be shifted southward about 2- 3 of an inch on the small 9x9 inch 
map, or 5 inches on the blue print. This occurred in confusing John 
Vernon with Hatwell Vernon. The whole of the road was surely never­
opened as there is a net-work of roads traversing in the same direction 
here except between Provincial Road and Conestoga Road. It has been_ 
corrected on the large map. 

1746-ROAD, RUSTIN'S TO BUCKLEY'S ROAD. 

Pursuant to an order of Court issued in 1745, a jury laid out a road 
from Octorara Creek to the road that leiads to Lancaster from Buckley's 
Mill. The report is dated Jan. 28, 17 46 and was presented to February 
Court ((2 D. 41). The viewers begin at Octorara Creek where Jacob Rus­
ton's road crosses the creek; thence .they proceed north 30 degrees west. 
440 peirches; then north 15 degrees, west 80 perches; then north 200 per­
ches and north 30 degrees, west 300 perches; then north 50 de,grees, west 
116 perches to the road laid out from Buckley's Mill to Lancaster. This. 
road is only 3 'h miles long. This road was adopted as the southern end 
of the boundary line, between Sadsbury and Bart Township in 1749, in 
the following language after following southward on the Buckley road a 
distance " ..... ", a road leading to John Taylor's Mill commonly known by· 
the name of Buckley's mill " . . ......... ", to a road branching there from . 
commonly known by the name of Ruston's Road and on the east . 
side theireof to the line that divides Colerain and Sadsbury Township, 
( 2 D. 7 0). It will be seen that the lower triangular end of Sadsbury­
Township did not then belong to it, but was part of Colerain Township. 
by the straight east and west line of Colerain continuing to the Octorarn. 
Creek. This road however practically indicated the boundary of the· 
point of Sadsbury, and it strikes the Octorara at Tweed's Run or near it, 
which was the point where Ruston's road from Chester County crossed 
the creek. 
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1746- ROAD, MUSGROVE'S TO BUCKLEY'S ROAD. 

On April 29, 17 46, viewers la id out a road pursuant to a prior or­
d er from Aaron Musgrove's road to a road formerly laid out to Buclcley's 
Mill. It began on Musgrove's roa d n ear la nd of William Thompson a nd 
sfruck generally south somewhat east less tha n 2 miles to the roa d laid 
out to Buckley's Mill. (2 D. 41.) 

It was r eviewed and r eport was made to August Court 1747 (2 D. 551 
this time swinging it south, then southeast a nd ending it in Buckley's 
road farther east than before. It passed through Calvin Cooper's lancl. 
See same in the map. The location of Musgrove's roa d is shown in the 
division of Sadsbury a nd Bart tow nships in 1749 as follows: "Beginn ing 
in a road called Aaron Musgrove's road near the coppe r mines at Stras­
burg Township line. where it divideil f rom Sadsbury and down the sevet· - · 
al courses ther eof, on the east side of said road to a n ew road branching 
therefrom leading to John T aylor ' s Mill commonly known by name of 
Buckley's Mill. This road therefore, simPly cuts across the a ngle from 
Musgrove 's Road to Buckley's Road in Sadsbury toward Ruston's. ' 

1747-ROAD , LANCASTER TO SMITH'S l\:IILL 

An order was issu ed at November Court 17 46 to review a nd lay out a 
roa d f r om Lan caster to Smith"s Mill and to malce s uch alterations as may 
b e dee.m ed n ecessary. The viewers state tha t they have avail ed cutting 
plantations as much as possible . The first view apparently was not 
satisfactory. There is no record of a prior application. But the app li­
cation is referred to in this review, date\f F ebru a ry 1747 (2 D. 44.) 

The road begins at Conestoga Cr ee•k on the Gr eat Road leading from 
La ncaster to Philadelphia a nd proceeds about 450 p erch es to south 
somewhat east to Peter Yorty 's Mill on Mill Creek! then about a mile far ­
ther to Henry H a ines corner, so uth east. It proceeds 9 40 perch es farthe r 
or about 3 miles south east t o Pequea Creek which it crosses about a 
mile and h a lf above mouth of Little Beaver. It then goes on about 1 1-3 
mile to Little 13°eavl;r which is called a run between Ferre's a nd Fowler 's 
and then goes a little over two miles more to Big Beaver in Martic and 
to Michael G roff's l\il.ill, formerly known as Smith's. Other land owners 
m entioned after passing Haine,s are D . Carpenter, . half mile beyond 
H a ines a nd just after crossing Pequea, Martin Miller is mentioned. Th P.n 
a mile farthe•r on Ferree and Fowler, a rid a h alf mile beyond tha t Peter 
Light and Martin Baer are mentioned a nd half a mile from Beaver Creek, 
Jos. McKenny is mentioned. 

At August sessions 17 47 a r eview of this roa d was presented. Its 
course begins at J a m es 'Webb's on Conestoga Creek a t the Philade lphia 
Road and proce,eds then ce to Mill Creel{ 508 perches or 1 2-3 miles; to 
Pequea Creek, then onward about 1 'h miles to Little Beaver a nd about 2 
miles to Rmith's M ill on Big Beaver. The whole is 8 %, miles long. (2 D. 
103). This road taken together with the one f rom Smith's M ill to Ew­
ing's F ord maclc- a direct roau from Lancaster to Octorara a nd on to 
Wilmington a nd to the "navigable waters". Se,e thes e roads on the map. 
We obsen ·c that Smith's Mill was Michael Groff's Mill commonly called 
here, Smith's M ill. (2 D . 44.) 

1748-ROAD, CHESTNUT LEVEL TO PEACH BOTTOM 

At August sessions 1748 . a road was laid out from n ear Chestnut 
L evel Church running south by east, h a lf a mile and then to a roa d laid 
out through a Maryland tract called Slate Hill. Then ce it follows the 
Maryland road, south-east to Conowingo Creek a nd goes on by ar: old 
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road leading from Joseph Adare's to Porter's Store. This road, making 
use of several old roads duplicates roads already laid out ( 2 D. 10 5). 

1748-ROAD, PEACH BOTTOM TO KING'S MILL 

At August Court 1748, by virtue . of an orer granted at May ses_ 
sions, a road wa.s laid out beginning in the "customary" road leading 
rrom James King's to Clover Sp1·ing, at the place where the road fron.. 
King's to Peach Bottom intersects the customary road. The road, then 
extends north slightly west, about half a mile until it intersects the road 
from Mount Pleasant to Lancaster Borough ( 2 D. 2). This is only im­
portant in its bearing on the location of Lancaster Road. 

1748-ROA}), KIRKWOOD TO TWEED'S (AT OCTORARA) 

At May Court 17 48, viewers theretofore appointed laid out a road 
heginning at John Barkley's (now Kirkwood) being a point on a road lead­
ing from David Templeton's on Octorara to Lancaster and ending on the 
Taylor l\'iill road at Tweed's. 

The road as laid out begins near present Kirkwood on the old Tem­
pleton Mill to Lancaster Road and proceeded east by north about 4 miles 
to the Great Road. leading from Taylor's· Mill to Lancaster ,near Robert 
Tweed's plantation in Colerain. (2 D. 104.) 

~ The beginning point was a smail run (a tributary of Octorara) a.t 
r / Barclay's, now Kirkwood. The ending point is near Tweed's Run which 

is the one that runs into Octorara across the small southern tip of Sadsbury 
Township but which then was in Colerain. See Tweed's run marked 
on Scotts map of 18 2 4. The starting point is about 21h miles east by 
north of Puseyville and it is now connected with it, and connected makes 
a complete roa d from Nelson's Ferry to Octorara. The impor­
tance of the road h1storically is that it fixes both Taylor's Mill as near 
Tweed's and Templeton's Mill as farther down on Octorara, on the road 
leading directly from Union Church. The road was reviewed and so re­
ported August Court 1748, but not much chang(ld (2 D. 62.) 

1748-ROAD, OREGON, EPHRATA AND READING 

In 17 48, there, were two roads returned from Oregon, through Eph ­
rata towards Reading. One recites that pursuant to an order of Court, 
dated August 1748, the viewers had laid out a roa d b eginning at the 
Tulpyhoclcen Road at Amazeah Pugh's. This is about a mile beyond 
Reinhold's station at the county line or beyond it. It is laid out by 
long straight lines, and does not mention any intervening points; but the 
general course maims it pass . through Denver, Stevens, Ephrata, Akron, 
Brownstown and Oregon. It is about 14 miles long, and is reported (;l D. 
62). . 

The other lies practically on the same ground but is about 4 miles 
shorter and begins at or slightly beyond Denver Borough at Bucher's. At 
John Shirlc's about a . mile and a quarter south-westward it crosses Co­
calico cre€•k, which in fact is Swamp Creek now, a large tributary 0f 
Cocalico. It proceeds onward south-westward through the same towns 
which the original road passed but makes no m ention ·of crossing the 
main Cocalico at Stevens. However at proper distance farther on it 
me•ntions crossing "Cocalico Mill Race, where Ephrata Mill tail empties 
itself." It then proceeds by many short courses generally northwest and 
next mentions the Cocalico Creek, again which it crosses about a mile 
before it reaches Bear's Mill. It is about 10 miles long. It is recorded 
(2 D. 59.) 
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However it be, this road was laid out and opened all the way to the 
Tulpyhocken road and on to Rea ding at an early date. 

No one would thin!<: that it was Jacob Bear's Mill which first caused 
a road to be laid out in the, direction of Reading and surely no one 
would ever think today that Jacob Bear's Mill (J'.!-O''-" Oregon). · was fo'f a 
number of years the most important point on 'that road and in fact 
one of the most important places in that part of Lancaster County. It 
bears the inconsequential name, popularly of "Catfish," today. 

1748-ROAD, WENTZ'S MILL TO KINGS l\fILL 

At November Court 1748 a report was made to court of a road b e­
ginning at a road leading by .Patrick O'Harrow's n ear Ashmore's Ferry 
over Muddy Creek at a point now known as Wentz's mill about two miles 
from the mouth of Muddy Creek by an almost southward course of irre­
gular courses and distances by lands of Alexander l\1oore, Robert Dix­
on, Nathan Brown and othe,r lands in Drumore to a point near the mouth 
of Fishing Creek at Cowgills Mill and thence striking by irregula r courses 
eastwardly a nd curving somewhat southwardly and then passing up 
Fishing Creel<: about half a mile by JosePh Brown's, Samuel Boyd's, D avid 
Bigham's, reaching the Chestnut Leve l and Peach Bottom Road n ear Fur­
niss and passing on to Ligget's Run and William Long 's Branch which, 
seem to be a branch of Peter's Creek and theru further on over Sankey's 
Branch of Oonowingo and to an old customary road leading to. King's 
Mill on Conowingo Cre,ek and into the road laid out from Lancaster Road 
to the said King's Mill in Little Britain Township. This road passes. 
into Fulton Township about 2 'h miles from the Susquehanna and then 
passes southeasterly to King's Mill. The site of the MIU is in that part of 
old Little Britain Township now called Fulton (See 2 D. 64). It is about 
8 miles long, bee line,. The general course of this road is south_eastward 
but it is quite crooked and in its first half length bulges southwest.vard. 
It passes through LibePty Square and nearly touches the river at Fiahing 
Creek and strikes Fulton Township, at Upper e,nd of Fairfield. 

1748- ROAD, BIRD-IN-HAND TO WILLIAMSTOWN 

At May Term 1748 an important road was reported to Court by a 
jury of viewers theretofore appointed . It was a road from the Phila-. 
delphia road at William McNabb's and James Love's to Samuel Lefever's 
new mill in Strasburg Township and to continue till it fall into the Con_ 
estoga Road, near Gap. This is the road from Bird_.in-Hand south-easl 
through Paradise, Leaman Place and on to Williamstown near Gap. The 
part from Leaman placs to Williamstown is a part of the, Lincoln High­
way (2 D. 60) 

The draft gets out that it began in McNabb's and Love 's land and ex­
tends southeast by courses and distances set out through James Smith's, 
Robert Stewart' s, Peter Lerue's, Isaac Ferree's and Jacob Fer-ee's lands 
where it crosses the Pequea at his mill dam, 8 3 3 perches from starting 
point or about 2 'h miles. This is the Paradise and Leaman Place point. 
Thence on it passes by Dan Feree's, Archibald Moore's, Samuel Hill's, Ro­
bert Smith's, Philip Ward's, John McCally's, Samuel Williamson's, Robert 
Patton's, John Scarlet's and Thomas Falkner's lands to the Oonestoga. 
Ro,ad near Gap . The distance from Lefever's at Paradise to .the end is. 
about 6 miles, be,e line, the part from start to Leaman Place runs east by 
about 35 degrees south and the balance runs east by about 20 degrees. 
south. 

There was similar action on this road or a part of it, in the year 
17 48; but we cannot tell whether it was prior to or subse,quent to the 

• 
\ ' 
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above. · At that court a report eitheor laying out or reviewing said road 
was made and approved by court. However the route laid out at that 

. time does not diffe·r very much from that above set out ( 2 D . 144) . 
.i:n 1754 the inhabitants of Leacock and Strasburg Townships by a 

pe.tibon, complain that the part of the road about Jacob Ferroe's dain in 
Pequea Creek, become; flooded, .e.tc.; by reason of the dam and is mad<a 
useless and they ask that it be a ltered. Viewers were appointed for 
the purpose (2 D. 15). They reported a change at that point to remedy 
the matter of February Court 1755 (2 D. 16). By order of Court at 
Term 1771 the width of this road was fixed at 30 foet . Se0 Docket 1771. 

1748- ROAD, STONY RUN TO ,.JAMES MOORE'S MILL. 

A report dated Sept. 26, 1748, (by virtue of an order issued at August 
Court and which order cannot be foand) sets out a road from the Stony 
Run to James Moore's' Mill. As it is not marked in the map, I set· out the 
record in full: "Beginning at 'the north side of the Stony Run, at a re ­
corded road leading from Gap to PhiladelPhia, at a part on said road, 
extending thence south 8 degrees, east 29 perches, thence south 30 perches; 
thence south 40 degrees, east 34 perches; thence south 32 perches, east 44 
perches; thence south 4 degrees, west 64 perches; thence south 7 degrees, 
east 86 perches; thence south 15 degrees, west 2s· perches; thence south 
by west 109 perches; thence southeast by east 14 perches; thence south 85 
degrees, east 17 perches; thence east-northeast 20 perches; thence east by 
south 118 Perches to the road leading to Moore's Mill. The whole is 593 
perches or less than 2 miles long. The road extends south, convexing 
eastward for about 1 'h miles and then strikes southeast. It would seem 
to be east of Gap as the same is stated to start on a road from Gap to 
Philadelphia. It fixes one "Stony run" . (See 2 D. 66 .) 

1749- ROAD, PUSEYVILLE, BY KIRK\VOOD, TO OCTORARO. 

On the 18th of July, 174 9, certain viewers laid out a road from Wm. 
Brown's road near present Puseyville, eastward, slightly northward across 
Colerain Township, going by or near present Kirkwood, to· Octoraro, at 
W illiam Bun ton's plantation. ( 2 D. 6 7) The records do not disclose the 
order. '£he viewers were, Cyrus William Barcl'ay, John Allison, David 
Templeton, Patrick Ewing, Jose·ph Morrison and Peter Heston. The road 
begins at Patrick Ewing's on the Wm Brown road. It is roughly, 5 miles 
long (1518 perches) . As it was inadvertently omitted from the map, I 
give its courses and distances starting in Colerain township, near Pusey­
ville; "North by 'h east 70 Perches; east by n orth 110 perches; east north ­
east 256 perches; east by south 138 perches; southeast by east 80 perches; 
east north-east 80 perches; east north-east by east 50 perches; east 24 
perches; south by east 50 perches·; east-southeast 100 per ches; northeast 
82 perches; northeast by east 76 perches; east-northeast 88 perches; east 
by south 110 perches; east 66 perches; east-northeast 132 Perches; east by 
south 44 perches, to Octoraro Creek, at Wm .. Bunton's . It remains to 
explain that east-by-south means 'h east or 45 degrees east; east-northeast 
is half east, etc.; east by south is 111,4 degrees south by< east; southeast 
by east is 561,4 degrees east of south, etc. 'l'he road there-fore extends 
somewhat north of east. 

There is nothing to show that _it iJ, _in Colerain Towriship, but any road 
runn ing eastwardly from near Brown's Mill, crosses Colerain. 

1749- ROAD, NELSON'S FERRY TO BROWN'S MILL 

This road extE•nds eastward from the neighborhood of McCall's Ferr:v 
to PuseyVille. 
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On July 23, 17 49 David Crosky, Andrew Tonoglon, Patrick Harrow, 
Willam Penny, George McGlachan and Robert Lockey_ made return of 
a road laid out and surveyed by them, pursuant to a former orrlP-r . 
from Nelson's Ferry to Matthew Brown's Mill. The courses were few 
and Jong. They begin at- the Ferry Landing, then strilrn south-eastwa.rd!y 
toward Muddy Creek by three courses, malcing a distance of 776 perches 
and th€1J1ce east 110 perches and cross Muddy Creek about 2 ~ miles 
from its mouth and about 3 1h miles from starting point. The ro['.d 
then continues somewhat northeast and strikes the old Lancaster an d 
Peach Bottom or Mt. Pleasant Road at Drumore Center, now also on the 
dividing line b etween Drumore and East Drumore Townships. It then 
crosses East Drumore by Unicorn to Puseyville. The courses and distances 
beginning at Nelson's F erry are east 25 degrees, south 280 p erches, east 45 
degrees, south 260 perches, east 40 degrees, south 236 perches, east 10 de ­
grees, south 178 perches, east 30 degrees, north 110 p erches, east 360 perch­
es, east 5 degrees, south 320 perches, east 10 degrees, south 280 perches, 
€ast 25 degrees, south 30 perches, east 350 perches, east 25 degrees. 
south 640 p; east 360 p, east 13 degrees, south 360 perches. The whole 
length bee-line is about 12 'h miles. 

The location of Nelson's Ferry at this time is somewhat vague from 
old maps . Its location on Scott's Map of 18 24 iis about two miles below 
McCall's Ferry and McCall's Ferry a lso appears on that map. In Reading 
Howell's m·ap of 1792, Nelson's Ferry is not mentioned at all; but Mc-. 
Cali's Ferry is located. In W. Scull's map of 1 770, Nelson's Ferry is 
shown at the neck of the river but its location would be west of Chestnut 
Level Meeting House. It is however marked considerably north of 
Fishing Creek a nd while Muddy_ Cr€<ek is not marked, it is north of 
where Muddy Creek should be marked . However, a road was laid out 
from Nelson's Ferry to York in a report dated November 12, 17 49 ( 2 :=>. 
6 9) an-1 the courses and distances -of the same traced and pro traced 
from York bring the Nelson Ferry end at the river just about wl1ere 
McCall's Ferry is today and the distance, from York to the river at that 
pomt corresponds also. Running the line from Brown's Mill to the r iver 
Nelson's Ferry ought to be a short distance above where it actually is to~ 
day. Therefore we conclude that Nelson's Ferry in 1 749 was not very 
d_istant from McCall's of today. Mapping it at the narrow neck of the 
rive~ a nd along Fishing Cr€•ek would seem to determine it even in th'cl 
_old imperfect maps. Th €• Nelson Ferry road to Brown's Mill proceed­
mg, is found in 2 D . 69. (Reading Howell was an early draftsman.) 

1749- ROAD, GEO. STEWART'S TO PEQUEA MEETING HOUSE 

At August sessions 17 49 an order was issued to lay out a road -from 
George Stewart's to the Meeting House of Pequea; and to November ses­
sions a return was made ( 2 D. 1) laying out the same beginning at A. 
Humphrey Fullerton's in a road laid out from said Stewart's to Fuller­
ton's. Then the cours€\S run south 62 degrees, east 40 perches, north 61 
degrees, east 60 perches, north 53 degrees, east 34 perches, north 75 de­
grees, east 132 perches, north 28 degrees, east 80 perch€\S, east by north, 
386 perches, north 79 degrees, east 12 8 perches, north 69 degrees, east 
60 perches, n orth 73 degrees, east 190 peorches a nd north 46 degrees, east 
1 29 perches, containing 4 3-8 miles. It will be seen that the main 
course of the road is east-by north, perhaps about north 70 degre<es co.st. 
See same on the map. It begins in the neighborhood of Spring Garden 
or ev€1J1 farther west on or near the old Philadelphia R-oad. 
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1749- COLLINS TO NINE POINTS 

Apparently to May sessions 1749, pursuant to an order issued at Feb­
ruary Court 17 49, (which order does not appear inl the r ecords), a road 
was returned to Court b eginning at Wm. McNeely 's plantaUon in Sads­
bury Tow nship a nd extending east wardly slightly north of east, to or near 
Nine Points , a t John Shannon ' s pla nta tion on the Taylor Mill road. 

This road began at a point a short distan ce north of Collins, now in 
Coleraine, the starting point however in Ed en Township , then part of 
Sadsbu ry. At a point abou t 1 1-3 miles east of the starting point, it 
c rossed a branch of Octorara creelc a nd a bout the same, dista nce from 
the eastern end it crossed the main west branch of Octorara. On its route 
it passed J a m es Henry's, Thos. Failing's , D avid Taggart's , John P axto-n 's 
and Downing 's M ill on said Octorara ( 2 D . 7 2. ) At its first crossing 
of the small bra nch of West Octorara, it passed n ear Old Smedley's .Mill 
and at the m a in west branch, it crossed n ear Jackson's Mill. It passed 
about a mile nort h of Bartville. The whole roa d is about 6 miles long. 

1750-ROAD LANCASTER, MANHEIM & MT. HOPE 

At May sessions, 17 50, a road was r eturned to Court agreeably to a 
prior orde•r (which order, as well as the p etition for same are n ot in the 
records) from Brackbill's La ne in L e•banon County to Lancaster. It 
leaves the La n caster and Lititz Pike about a mile or less north of the 
city limits a nd lies wher e t h e Fruitville pike now is, and passes through 
Ma nheim Township into Penn To wn ship a t the south-west corner of 
Warwiclc Township. It continues northwa rd through Penn bearing 
westward, passing a bout midway b etween Fairmount on th fJ east of Man ­
heim on the west a nd about the latitude of Ma nheim it curves westward, 
crosses the Chickies about a mile north of Manheim . into R a pho a nd 
k ee,ps a genera lly direct line somewhat west · of north to Mt. Hope a nd 
across the county line about 8 miles beyond in a northwest direction to 
or towa rds L ebanon. It is, undoubtedly the origin of Fruitville Pike 
and the through road lea ding to Mount Hope a nd Leba non (2 D. 73 and 
74). 

The survey begins in the road from Lancaster to Jacob Hoover's, 
(which was the name of the Lititz Road) at a distance as I have sa.id 
less than a mile from the city line, a little more than h a lf a mile north­
west of its starting point, it r eaches "Slough's Old Place". It proceeds 
on, 1 'h miles farther to Baughman's lane; it then reaches Warwick 
Township right at the southwest corner and a little beyond calls for 
Buckwalter's Lane. No othe r places along its course, are mentioned until 
it first crosses Chickies Creek (main or east Chickies) just beyond Man ­
heim; then a little over 3 miles farther on, as the survey shows, it cros­
ses Chickies again, at a point about a mile due west of White Oak and 
also w est of Penryn. It then crosses Chickies again about %. mile fal"­
ther on and about two miles north-west of the last crossing, passing 
Mount Hope it crosses the Lancaster-Lebanon line; it crosses the Paxton 
Road about 4 miles farther on northwesterly, at a place today called 
Bismark and then proceeds about 3 'h miles farther and ends at Brack-
bill's Lane, near Lebanon. · 

1750- ROAD, KIRK'S TO OOTORARA 

At August session 1750 a road was returned as laid out, pursuant 
to an ordeor, granted at May sessions, as it is recited from Hugh Pa:. 
trick's Mill to a ford at Octorara Creek, to fall in with the road laid out 
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passing by Hugh Edmonson's Mill, to Christina Bridge. The survey be-· 
gins at a white oak in a road formerly laid out from Peach Bottom to 
'James Porter's store, at the entrance of an old road leading to John 
Lucky's. It then runs south 82, east 210 p., south. 50, east 27 p., south 
.87, east 60 p., south 64, east 60 p., south 31, east 60 p., to John Pon.g's 
land, held under the government of Maryland and by John Ewing's; then 
south 40, east 60 p., south 62, east 60, south 48, east 15 by the northside 
of William GilJespie's dwe,JJings ; south 61, east 20 p., south 80, east 12 p. 
northeast 60 p ., east 40 p .. south 64, east 20 p., south 30, east 20 p, to 
the ford on Octorara Creek to fall in with the road to Christine Bridge. 
Christiana Bridge is now Wilmington . The whole road is only about 
1 1-3 miles long but it fixes several important points. Its general coursEc> 
is southeast. (See 2 D. 76) 

1751-ROAD, CRAIGHEAD'S TO DOWNING'S l\fiLL 

At May Court 1751 there was reported a draft of a road, dated April 
16, 1751 made pursuant to a prior order of court in Bart Tow nship, from 
Craighead's plantation to Downing's Mill The courses and dista nces 
set out begin in a roa d near Craighead's and run S. 27, E. 25 p., S . 66. 
E. 27 p. to another road leading to Craighead's Meeting House; S. lo, 
E. 44 p .; S. 2 5, E . 5 6 p., south by the east line of James McConnell, 
nea r the corner of Craighead's land; S. 15, E. 52 p., S. 35, E. 114 p. to 
a road laid out from Wm. McNeeJey ' s plantation in Bart to Wm. Down­
ing's Mill, thence · with the road to the milJ. 

This road is in the map but not marked by docket and page and is 
therefore set out in ful l. It is just about a mile long, but it fixes several 
plantations e tc. It passes down along west side of Meeting House Run, 
near the mouth of which Downing's MiJJ stood (2 D. 77.) 

1751-ROAD, CAERNARVON TO READING 

Pursuant to an order made in 1750 a road survey and report dated 
April 17, 1751, were r eturned to May Court 1751, laying out a road f rom the 
Chester County line to the Tulpyhocken Road, opposite the town of 
Reading. The courses bE•gin near the line of Chester County (and it 
seems that this point is at the extreme eastern end of the point of Caer­
n arvon Township, a little west and south of Morgantown.) It trends by 
irregular courses north, north by east, and north by west until it falls in 
with the road we have before described dated 1735 (I D. 122-132), just 
south of Reading. It therefore does not lie in our county and this 
reference• to it and explanation are all that will be needed. It may 
account for the eastern terminus of some of our county roads. (2 D. 77.) 

1751-ROAD, SCOTT'S l\fiLL TO COUNTY LINE 

At May sessions 1751, an orde'l" was issued to WiJJiam Thomas, John 
Jenkins, John Hamilton, Robert Swarr, William Hartford et al., to Jay 
out a road from Scott's Mill in Caernarvon Township to a road laid out 
from the county line to Evan Price's on the SchuylkilJ near William Hart­
ford's . The courses and distances returned to August Court show it to 
be about 5 'h miles long and to trend north-west from Scott's MilJ, on 
upper Conestog·a, east of Bangor, said trend north-west being about half 
a mile to the Coventry road, thence it continues due north, nearly a · mile, 
then northward about 30 degre~s. west a mile and a half, then by irre­
gular course northward about 2 'h miles passing over the county line. 
Then it pro.ceeds about a mile farther and meets the road from Price's 
to Schuykill, . near WiJ]iam Hartford's. It apparently crosses the main 
stream of Mud·dy Creek. No mention is made of it, however, (2 n: 79). ' 



(73) 

1752~ROAD, CONEWAGO TO DONEGAL MEETING HOUSE 

At May sessions, 1752, a draft or survey of a road dated April 21, 
was returned to court beginning on the road from Harris's Ferry be­
tween John Sample's and the Pine Ford and running for most part along 
a road formerly laid out by Samuel Smith to Thos. Harris's Mill and 
-thence along an old road to Nathan Woo·d 's, striking into a road leading 
to Wm. McFaite's Meeting House. 
· The courses a nd distances show it to begin on the great road leading 
from Pine Ford to Jos. Sample's. Then ce it follows an irregular south­
eastward course through West Donegal Township, past Thomas Harris's 
Mill and crossing Conoy Creek, continues more n early easterly about 1 ~ 
miles farth er to the prese•nt line of East Donegal and thence through 
the same about one mile into the road leading to "Donegal Meeting House, 
about a half mile west of it." It begins about 3 ¥., mile•s north of the 
Lancaster County line crosses Conewago Creek at Conewago. ( 2 D. 8 0.) 

1752-ROADS, THREE ROADS LEADING TO GILLESPIES 

The,re were returned to May Sessions 1752, three roads leading in 
three directions from Gillespie's Mill in East Drumore, on Conowingo, 
near the Fulton-East Drumore line. One led to that mill from a point 
near Unicorn; another from the southeast led to Gillespie's Mill from a 
point in Little Britain Township near Elim and the third led to Gillespie•'s 
Mill from a point near the mouth of Pet.er's Creek. This converging of 
roads at Gillespie's made with other roads there, a considerable web of 
roads. The beginning point of the one leading from Unicorn, is de­
scribed as in the road laid out from James D e•nny's to N elson's Fer!"Y, 
though that road, as we have se•en, ended at Brown's Mill at what is now 
Puseyville. The eastern .road from south-east begins at James Mont­
gomery's in the Brown's road and going north-westwardly crosses Little 
Conowingo about 2 miles distant and the Big Conowingo, the same 
distance farther northwest and it then runs northwest about 2- 3 of a mile 
farther to Gillespie's Mill. 'rhe, third one about 4 miles long b ee - line 
runs northeas t from near Peach Bottom to Gillespie's . Gillespie's was 
on Conowingo in East Drumore about a mile east of H ensen. (2 D. 80 and 
82.) 

1752-ROAD, SPRING GROVE TO EAST EARL 

. At the May sessions of 1752, J a m es White hill, '\Villia m Gillrnson, 
Emanuel Carpenter, James Smith and Joseph Dickinson returned a road 
laid out by them pursuant to previous order, from John Kittera's to the 
Paxton road about John McElwain's. The road is only 2 %, miles long 
and exce,pt for an angulation where it crosses a tributary of Conestoga 
Creek, it is nearly a straight south by w est line from Kittera 's. It be­
gins in the road laid out in 1742 in the road from Blainesport to Church­
town. 

The name Kitte,ra is prominent in our county as John W . Kittera 
was our first congressman. The draft of this road shows plainly that 
it extends from Spring Grove to East Earl, a mile east of Blue Ball, on 
the great Paxton Road, now known as Harrisburg and Downingtown 
Road (2 D. 84.) 

1752- ROAD, EVANS' MILL TO COOKSON'S ~IlLL (CAINS) 

Pursuant to a prior order, there was returned to August sessions 
1752, a draft or survey of a road from Nathan Evans' Mill in Caernarvon 
Township to thei Lancaster and Philadelphia Road about a mile west of 
Compass, near widow Cookson's Mill. 
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We have heretofore described a road as being laid out between prac­
tically these same points in 1736 (1 D. 146, and 157). For some r eason 
further proceedings were considered necessary. The former road may 
not h ave been opened. The courses and dista nces of this road are short 
and irregular but the general course is almost due southward from Evans' 
Mill. It is just ·about 6 miles long bee-line. The first mile and a half 
of the course trel!ld, southward about 30 d egrees west. The n ext 2 % or 
3 miles of the course run practically south. Then there is a course of 
about 2-3 of a mile south east and then bY a curved line convexing to the 
west, the remaining part, of about 1 2- 3 miles, trends south abom; 25 
degrees east. 

No land-marks or names of owners or of streams are noted along 
the course. When widow Cookson's Mill is reached, there is. an additional 
%, mile added to get to the Philadelphia Road · at or near the present 
point calle•d Cains. This road crosses the Downingtown Road at Hear­
town , passes about 1 lh miles west of Cambridge, follows down the mn,in 
eastern source of Pequea Creek and passes about three-fourths of a mil8> 
east of Pequea Presbyterian Church on south of Cains where it ends. 
(See 2 D . 86.) 

1752-ROAD, ROTHVILLE TO IDNKLETOWN 

Pursuant to an order of Court grante1d pres~mably at August Se~­
sion 1 752 , a road was returned to November session of court by Henry. 

C t J eremy Wolf Samuel Grove, Chas. Harlogh, John Barr and arpen er, , . a· f 
Wyrich Spence, beginning· at a post m the Great Road lea m_g rom 
Jacob Hoover's to Philadelphia, thence runmng by courses a nd distances 

t out eastward first across Middl€J Creek about a mile from the start­
f~g point, thence on eastward about 2-3 mile f'.1-rther and there cr.oss!ng 
Cocalico a nd then following the same a short distance, thence, contmumg 
about 5 miles to Conestoga creek and about 1 lh miles farther east to the 
Paxton Road. ( 2 D. 8 7.) 

This same road was r e•ported to Court to May Sessions 175 2 as ap­
pears in (2 D. 83. ) It is there surve~ed, begmnmg at the eastern end 
and is set forth as a road followmg a si~~lar cour:;,e. Among the land owners 
mentioned from east to west are Philip S~eaffer, Andrew Kerr, Tllos. 
Coghran, Geo. Yondt; the,n Conestoga creek is crossed and then are men ­
tioned George Wolf, John Irwm, John Woolrich, Michael Ove.rly, Abram 
Ferree, Vincent Myer, Andrew Hoffman, Nicholas Diffendeirfer, Devan 
Caygle, in Cocalico Township , Jared Koffrey, Justus Shaefer, John L andis; 
then Cocalico Cre,ek is reached and by several. courses down same l~S 
perches they continue the course. Then they cross the creek and go 
on to lands of Christ Eaby in Warwick Township a nd then Middle, Creek 
is reached and they pass H enry La ndis, H€nry Brunner, Valentine Beck<>i·, 
J a<;ob Geyer and to the• Great Road leading from Jacob Hoover's to Phila­
delphia. This is the more complete survey of the two. In the survey 
above first set out Middle, Creek is called "Mill Creek" at least in the re­
cord. This is erro r . Th e Paxtan Road, at the east end of the ro ad 
just described is well-known. The road known as leading from Ja cob 
Hooveir's, Philadelphia, is great road laid out in 1739 from Spring Garden 
to Penryn. It is always cited as the road from Jacob Hoover's to Phila­
d elphia. However in one of these cases we shall see it is called ''ThP• 
Main Roa d" (See 2 D. 50, Clay to Kisse,1 Hill.) The Lititz pike is a lso 
frequ ently calle_d the Jacob Hoover Road. This road leads from a poin:; 
west of Rothsville, through Akron to a point nea r Murrell and then one, 
branch goes to Murrell and the main road goes to Hinkletown crossing 
Conestoga below the town. ' 

J 
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1752-ROAD, GOOD'S MILL TO LANCASTER ROAD 

At August session· 1752 a road was re•ported to court from Good's Mill 
on Pequea Creek to the Lancaster and Mt. Pleasant road about two miles 
to the southeast of the mi!l. (2 D. 89.) There are no proceedings of this 
road on the docket but a drawing or draft of the road is inserted. It 
states that it crosses the plantations of Henry Line, John Stauffer and 
Christian Shank and ends at the place where it meets the road leading 
from Lancaster to Rock Run (2 D . 89.) 

This road according to the record was not opened until by a n order of 
August sessions 1770, the court compeJled the same to be done. 

The road is weJI known by those familiar with the locality of "Burnt 
MiJI" and "Baumgardner's Station". It leads from the·road known as Mar­
tic Forge Road and where it passes "Burnt lVIiJJ" to a point near Byerland 
Meeting House at the Henry Barr property on the Lancaste•r Road pass­
ing by WiJJow Street to Lancaster or by Heidlebaugh's and Willow Street 
to Lancaster. 

1753-ROAD, LIBERTY SQUARE TO QUARRYVILLE 

To November term 1753, a road was returned by virtue, of a prior 
order leading from Samuel Hunter's MiJJ on the upper part of Fishin.~ 
Creek, near present Liberty Square in Drumore Township by a route first 
trending southeastwardly, then lying for a distance on the same site as 
the Burkholder's Ferry Road and after foJlowing it a distance, curving 
east by north and then north east and so continuing until it reaches the 
n eighborhood of QuarryvilJe, Carmargo and New Providence It is r:ot 
very clear just ·where the road did lead to. As part of it duplicates other 
roads, it is likely, only part of it ever opened. It approache,d near 
Drumore Center on the La'1.caster Road where the Nelson Ferry Road 
crossed it. ( 2 D. 9 0). The places mentione<d a long its course from the 
west end to the east, are Samuel Hunter's MiJI on Fishing Creek. This 
see•ms to have been the Habecker mill, about a mile east of Liberty 
Square. Then John Carson, Charles Daugherty, Widow Elder, Alex. 
Stephen, Robert Gilchrist, J ames Gilchrist, WiJJiam Wallace, William 
Barnett, Widow Armstrong and Robert Curry are mentioned as the mr ­
vey is carried along north-eastward and the ending point is ''Beaver 
Creek." At present there seems to be, n o use for the whole of such a 
road . The eastern 2-3 of it however seem to furnish a dire•ct northeast 
road from Drumore Center to Quarryville, leaving the main Lancaster 
road at Drumore Ce'l'.lter. It is about 9 or 10 miles Jong following the 
courses of the large semi-circular route of its first quarter. By a 
bee-Im~ ho.wever it is about 8 miles long , that is from the southweste~n 
Hunters Mill end on Fishing Creek to its northeastern end on Be,avei: 
Creek. · 

1753-ROAD, STEVENS TO EAST EARL 

At May sessions 1753 viewers appointed by prior order, Jay out a 
road from the Schuylkill road near Edward Ream's Mill to Shirk's Mill on 
Conestoga and from the'l'.lce to the Philadelphia Road near John Mcil­
waine's. After the survey was made the "court found some of the in­
habitants something aggrieved a nd omitted the return till this present 
November." The beginning was therefore altered to the satisfacti-on of 
the inhabitants and the road was fixe•d to begin on the Schuykill road 
at He'l'.lry Mohler's. The survey then proceeds by many courses, in a gen­
eral southeast direction, not mentioning any land marks nor a ny land 
owner:;; till it r eaches the Philadelphia road at Mcllvaine's, that is East 
Earl a short dista n ce southeast of Blue Ball. 
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On the m a p i t will be obs€•rved that this road connects with the Lan­
~a_s,ter and Reading Road at Mahler's, near Stevens and passes south­
wardly by east passing east of Hahnstown, through Martindale and Wea, 
verland to East Earl. It crosses the, Cocalico near its forks where 
Swamp creek enters, a lso the Muddy Creek right below or n ear the fork 
of the Little Muddy Creeok a nd then the Conestoga about the center o! 
presAnt E as t E a rl Township. 
· By examining the map it will be ovserved tha t the first intention to 
.have it start near Reamstown would h a v€• diverted its northe rn t erminus 
about three miles east of the m a in Reading Road to the then less impor~a nt 
and late r route to R ead ing by way of Adamsown. 
. The, o;iginal application fo r this road asking tha t it start from Ever--
ard Reams m a y be found in (2 D . 2) d a ted in 1753. 

1753-ROAD, BURKHOLDER'S FERRY TO DRUMORE CENTER 

At May sessions 1753 a return of a road was filed by Samue•l Simp­
son , John Snodgrass, Samuel McCullough, John Ramsey, Thomas White 
:,nd J ames Clark to viewers to lay out a road from the old customary 
road leading to Burkholder's F erry on Susquehanna, between the lines of 
William Clark, J ames Clark, John N eoa.l , Widow Snodgrass, Daniel Win­
t e r, Andrew McClay, over Tucl{qua n , George Sutter, Hugh Long, James 
Duncan, Thomas Cully, Alex. McLaughlin, J ames R eed, the road laid out 
from Nelson's Feorry to John McDowell (2 D. 1) . 

At February Court 1754 another survey of the road was returned 
to Court ( 2 D. 9 7) following somewhat differ ent courses and distances, 
beginning at Abra h a m Burkholde r 's F eirry in Conestoga and passing aast­
ward 110 p erches or ·1-3 mile, crossing Pequea Creel{, passing in its cours~ 
la nds of Robert Pawdry,, Samuel H ellis, William ·c1ark, Wm Snodgrass, 
John Snodgrass, the Tucquan Cre•ek, Thomas White, Thomas Boyd, a 
branch of Muddy Creek, Samuel D exon , the main Muddy Creek, William 
Moore, Fishing Creek, Ma tthew Rippley, Mathew Clark, D a vid Bigham 
and John Long's in Drumore, Township . This survey is dated Feb. 2, 
1754 and is the one used in the map. This m akes it a road from Burk­
holder's F erry to Drumore Center or the main La n cast e r and P each .Bot­
tom road (2 D. 97.) It p asses Colemanville, then south of Mount N ebo 
and by Liberty Square to Drumore Center, when it ends. 

A r eview was asked for a nd a n ew survey made of the, east end 0f it 
March 12, 1754. This was presented a t May Court. The r ecord does 
not show any action on · it by court confirming the same,. By r eferen ca 
to the m a p it will be seen that the r elocat ed part began at Snodgrass's 
near Tucqua n Creek and k €,p t a more northerly course, passing east by 
south across the extreme north ea.st corner of present Drumore Tow!l­
ship and eonding in the east, or Conowingo bra n ch of the L a n cast er · Road 
n ear Buck. The la nds traversed are those of Wm. Patterson, David 
Reed, David Moore, Jon as Kennedy, John Dunca n, John Gabery and on 
to Robert Boyd ' s plantation at his spring branch b eing the fountain head 
of Conowingo Creek (the wrnt branch of it). This makes it cross a bout 
a mile beyond the principal Lancaster roa d and about a mile into East 
Drumore Twp. 
· But the re-view eirs a lso la id out a branch starting back at John Dun­
can's in the Lancaste r Roa d a nd then down the road two mi)es to .Tohn 
Long's, thus making the r eal end to be at Drumore, Center with a spur, 
a mile east a t the point where it first r each es L a ncaster road, on to Rob­
ert Boyd's. (See this, 2 D . 95 a nd 96, m a rked on· rn!ap as 96.) 

At this time it is proper to note as we shall note more fu lly under 
the year 1757 that, at November sessions 1757 citiz€1JJ.S of Martic Township 
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J.)~titioned for a road from David R eed's on the Burkholder's Ferry R oacl 
to Christian Groff's Mill, formerly Wm. Smith's Mill at },re,w Providence 
to haul grain. There is no record that it was granted at least prior to 
.1760. See on the map the course of the road intende<d passing near 
Raw linsville and by the town eastwardly by north a distance of about 7 
miles. The petitioners complain that this is necessary b ecause the land­
owners are closing up the ''customary" roa ds. (See map 2 D. 40. This p. 
40 refers to the back part of the Docket, 40.) 

1753-CITY MILL AND LEACOCK ROAD 

At May court 175 3 a road previously surveyed by virtue o_f a n ord~r 
issued at February Court, was la id out f rom L a ncaster to Se•bastian Groff s 
Mill a nd from thence to the ' 'Horse-Shoe Road" , n ear George Lyne':i (2 
D. 2. ) 
· Th rvey shows it to b e, a roa d about 7 ~ miles long (bee line) but 

.e su r bulg ing northward a nd of a general direction northeast 
convexing o . d b · · · th p about 30 degrees north of east. It is describe as egmnmg m e, ro-
vincial Roa d leading from Lancast er Borough a nd ext endi~g by lan~s 
of James Hamilton Esq., and Peter L eaman and then Sebastian Groff m . 
all 240 degrees by several courses, the direction being northeast a nd at 
the end of said road 240 perches to Con estoga Creek. It then proceeds 
up the creek a distance . a nd pa:::ses through the London Company's land 
in Manheim Township. As it does not mention crossing the creek it 
sta rts on th e; west side of the Creek and is likely the roa d which goes up 
to Old City Mill. But after this course is run, it crosses the creek a nd 
continues up the creek by J esse, Musser's and Christian Sta u ffe r 's la nd. 
It then continues more eastwardly by William Seewrigh t' s a nd Alexander 
Work 's and John Line's land in L eacock Township. It then goe:i on 
by la nd of Philip Scott and John Row la nd and by Jacob Rowland and 
George Line to the, "roa d commonly called Horse-Shoe Road," whei·e it 
ends. And it was accordingly confirmed as la id out. It would appear 
tha t about a mile east of ME:chanicsburg it f a lls into the Lancaster a nd 
Coventry Great Road or N ew Holland Pike. The n ame "Horse-Shoe Road" 
is apparently very old . It is to be n oted tha t on the map this roa d is 
made to cross the Conestoga Creek t w ice. This is a n e,rror. It seems · 
that the curved road bulg ing eastward f rom the old Pl!.ll :i.delphia Road 
leading to Mechanicsburg-that is the, first 31,jJ miles of ti1e old Conestoga 
H.1ghway was the "Horse-Shoe Road." 

1753-ROAD, BELLAIRE TO MOUNT JOY 

There was filed a re turn of a road to November sessions 17 53 laid 
out by a prior order, a road surve,yed Oct. 17, 1753 from Robert Allison's 
Mill ·on Conewago to Mount Joy. Th e v iewers were ':Peter Bowman, Wil­
liam Allison, William Miller, Samuel Conyngham, Ephraim Little and 
Samue l Wilson. ( 2 D. 9 3) . The, courses and distances give it a g en­
eral south-east direction, practically bisecting Mount Joy township, p!'l.ss­
ing about a mile to the west of Milton Grove. Beginning a t Allison's Mill 
on the upper Conewago, it strikes almost due east (somewhat south of 
east) over a mile and it crosses over two or three western branch<?.s of 
West or Little Chickies Creek. The• places m entioned along the route 
after leaving Robert Allison 's land are, Wm. Miller's, William Allison 's' 
P e!er Rishe:'s, Willia m Alexander's James Culbertson's, Abraham Sha !~ 
l.ey s, Ephraim Light's, Widow Wilson 's, Moses White's, John Cooper's, 
and Samuel Scott's lands. Then it joins the Great Road to Lancaste r 
from Harris' Ferry. It is about 7 miles long, by a bee-line. 
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1753- ROAD, STONE'S MILL, CONESTOGA TO WORLEY'S ON GAP 
ROAD IN SADSBURY 

Some time before 1753 a road w.as evidently laid out from Christian 
Stone's Mills in Conestoga Township to Caleb Worley's on the Gap Road 
in Sadsbury Township because a t May sessions 1753 (2 D. 4.) there is 
a r ecord seitting out that the p e rsons appointed by order of last court 
upon petition of Isaac Taylor, to review a road laid out from Christian 
Stone's Mills in Conestoga Township to Caleb Worley's on thei Gap road in 
Sadsbury Township, do now r eport that they met but could not come to 
an agreement. And Isaac Taylor now having presented anothe~ peti­
tion praying other viewers to make such alterations as shall be n eces­
sary, the court appoints John L eonard , -Robert Allison, Abraham Ferree·, 
Samuel Lefever, Wm. McClausin and Wm. Hamilton to review said road 
and make such alterations as may seem proper. 

At thei following Court presumably (2 D. 8) the viewers appointed 
made report that they have r eviewed and laid out the same as follows; 
Beginning a t a B. 0. on the l'Oad formerly laid nigh to James McDills 
field extending from thence N. 20, E. 4 p; N. 34, E . 6$ p., N . 54, E. 42 p .. 
N. 70, E. 62 p. N. 56, E . 52 p., N. 50, E. 46 p. N. 80, E. 24 pinto the 
afore.said Gap road containing in all one mile a nd a quarter, which rE:­

turns the Court confirmed. 
This road is set down for the purpose of establishing the fact that 

there was a road from Christian Stone's Mills in Conestoga Township to 
Caleb Worley's on the Gap road in Sadsbury Township. There is no 
record of such road. From Cone.stoga Township to Sadsbury -Townshp is­
a considerablei dis tan ce a nd thus the r eco rd of a road of considerable­
length does not seem to be in existence at all. 

It is noticeabl e h ere that "Christian Stone's Mills" h er e is a lways in, 
the plural number, as if he b a d a largei plant, well known and consist­
ing of several kind of Mills su ch as corn, saw, oil, hemp and others. 

1754-ROAD, FAIRMOUNT TO BARTVILLE 

At May sessions 17 54. John Evans, Jno . Crawford, George Leonard, 
Samuel P a tterson and John Paxton filed a return to court of the survey­
of a road which the,y la id out pursuant to an order issued at F ebrua ry 
Court. This road extended from southwest to nor theast through pa-rt. 
of Little Britain, Drumore and Colerain ToWllships. It was nearly seven 
miles long. The report is dated April 29, 1754. The viewers be•gin the, 
survey at Montgomery 's Lane n ear Fairmount in the road lead ing to. 
Charlestown (Maryland). Thence they run the course,s in a northeast­
erly direction across Little Britain Township 290 perches by several cours­
es to Thom-as Whiteside's property and farther on 476 perchoo by several 
courses to Robert McCorkle's land and in the same direction by several 
courses they proceed farthe~-254 perches over a branch of water, a trib-­
utary of West Bra nch of Octorara to James Hamilton's plan t a tion; thence­
they proceed by seve~al courses in · a rough semi-circle convexed westward 
232 perches and then on 82 perches farther to the west branch of Oc­
torara at Mat th ew Brown 's Mill at Puseyville. · From this point onward· 
the northeast courses continue by George McCullough's, Joshua Anderson's, 
David Campbell's, Samuel Anderson's a nd Charles McAllister's lands ii82· 
p erches or a little less than 2 miles, ending in said McAllis ter's lane in_ 
Colerain Township (2 D. 94.) 

This road begins in the said Charlestown roa d n ear the present town_ 
of Fairmount and passes through Puseyville where it crosses or m eets 
the eastern end of the N elson Ferry and Brown's Mill road a nd then goes, 
on to Iiear Bartville just over the Colerain Line. As we h ave s tated above, 
it terminates just b elow the northern boundary of Colerain at McAlliste r's , 

1 
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1756-ROAD, PEQUEA MEETING HOUSE TO COUNTY LINE (BELOW 
COMPASS) 

At November sessions 1756 the persons appointed to view and lay 
out a road from Pequea Meeting House to John Douglas's Mill and on to 
Jonas Chamberlain's, on the dividing line, filed a report dated Oct. l.D, 
1756. The road is roughly four miles long and beginning at Pequea. 
Meeting House passes south by east by John Whitehill's land about %. 
mile and then strikes southwest by James Douglas ' house and the Church 
Glebe about a half mile or more to the Lancaster and Philadelphia Road. 
It then passes eastward along the same 238 perches; thence south by ir­
regular lines by Jos. Dickinson 's and on to Jonas Chamberlain's land aud 
cuts the Lancaster and Chester County line about 21;. miles south of 
Compass. John Whitehill, we observe, had land adjoining the church. 
He must not be confused with James White,hill whose name we have m et 
frequently in this paper (2 D. 125 * ) 

1758-ROAD, CLAY TO (NEAR) KISSEL HILL 

At February sessions 1758 a jury of viewers appointed at November 
Court 1751 appointed to lay out a road on petition of inhapitants of W a r­
wick Township from Michael Shenk's in the Great Road leading from 
Philadelphia to the main road leading from Lancaster to · Tulpyhock­
en make a reDort. 

They begin at Paxton Road to Michael Shenk's now the town of Clay; 
then pr·oceed practically due south by 4 courses, a distance of 518 perches 
or a mile and two-thirds by John Hostetter's, Michael Shenk's, Henry 
Hackman 's, Abraham Deerolf 's, John Stauffer's and Michael Kline's 
land · thence by a course 194 perches n early south and a course 18() 
perches southwest passing over Hammer creek (the boundary of War­
wick Township) John Habecker's and Jacob Habecker's land they come 
to Peter Pail's land and then passing on a distance of 228 perches n early 
due south they come to the "Main Road" after passing land of Samuel 
Huber. This main road is the one laid out in 1739 and 17 40 and leads 
-From Spring Garden and Penryn ( See 1739, 1 D. 3 0 0.) Passing south of 
the "Main Road" by John Bender's and other land a distance, of 183 per­
ches they reach the "Mill race" of Flory Mill on Carter's Creek, just east 
of Rome on the Road from Lititz to Rothville,. It is the same creek on 
which Bear's Mill is situated. Continuing f a rther south by land of Mi­
chael Pfoutz and of Jacob Shertzer and of Christian Grube and of Ja­
cob Line, a distance from the said mill of 529 perches, about one and two 
thirds miles the survey reaches the Manheim Township line and by a 
course south 59 d egrees, w est 140 perches. The route intersects the Tulpy­
hocken or Lititz Road. A draft of this road appears in the docket on the 
opposite side of the, sheet, that is the next page containing the record. ( 2: 
D. 50 and 50* rear part of the docket.) The whole road is about six miles 
long. 

This is the present well-known road beginning at Clay in the Harris­
burg and Downingtown Road and it leads through Rome, east of Lititz a.nd 
at present joins the Lancaster and Lititz Road at Kissel Hill, formerly 
New H aven, instead of continuing on its direct course, over th<:, Man­
heim Township line, meeting the Lititz Pike where the prese•nt sta te­
road ·to Oregon intersP.cts the Pike. 

The northern extremity of this road also forms the beginning of the, 
artificial boundary b etween Elizabeth and Clay Townships, that is, that 
p a rt of the boundary south of ~he Harrisburg and Downingtown road, a 
boundary about two miles long. The boundary between said townships 
north of the Harrisburg and Downingtown Road is formed by Se•clock 
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Run, also called Furnace Run near its mouth, it being a tributary of 
Middle Creek flowing in from the west. 

On the map observe this road and notice its location beginning a t or 
n ear the said dividing line. It is slightly misplaced as it should · begin on 
the line. 

The original application for this road seems to have b een presented 
to November Court 1757. (See 2 D. 40*) where, i t is recorded that the 
petition of divers inhabitants of Warwick Township was read setting 
forth that they are in great n eed of a public or King's highway through 
the easternmost part of their township to the, town of La n caster-being 
put to a great inconvenien ce in passing and repassing, by the stopping 
and fen cing of the roads; that it is their opinion that it will be to the best 
interest of the fnhab itants of the back parts of the county-if it begin 
and be la id out at or near the piantation of Michael Shenk in the Great 
Road leadin g from Philade lphia to Paxton and passing through by the 
several plantations of Peter Peel, Micha€<! Klein, Samuel Huber , John 
Be.nder a t the n ew mill, Michael Pfautz a nd Christian Grube and thence in­
to t~e roa d leading from Tulpyhoclrnn to La n cast er. The• court appointe d 
as viewers Henry W a lter, John Bear, J eremia h Wolf, Christ Halegon, Jr., 
Leonard Miller and Ja.cob Hoyle and ordered them to maim r eturn. 

1753- ROAD, GROFF'S· (SMITH'S) MILL TO BART ROAD 

I desire to note one or two a pplications for roads which seem to ha ve 
failed. In 175 3 it is r ecorded ( 2 D. 5) the p etition of divers inhabitants 
of Martic, Bart a nd Drumore was filed, setting forth that they a re put to 
divers incon veniences for want of a road from Christian Groff's Mill (for­
merly Smith's Mill, near New Providence) in M a rtic Township to a cer ­
t a in road in Bart T ownship leading to Christiana Creek, by reason tha t ,;]! 

the ''customary roads" formerly used are either stopped or so turned, 
that they are "rendered un-usefu l" for tha t purpose. They prayed that 
viewers be appointed to lay out such a road. The court appointed view­
ers as prayed for. No report appears a mong the r eco rds of the court in 
the matter . 

.t 757-ROAD, BURK.HOLDER'S FERRY ROAD TO SMITH'S MILL 

At November sessions 1757 the petition of divers inhabitants of Ma rtic 
Township was read to co urt setting forth that there is a n ecessity for a 
road to be ]a id out in th e said township from t h e road leading from David 
Reeds' plantation to Burkholder's F erry to Christian Groft's Mill on Bea­
ver Cree l< (formerly Wm. Smith's M ill ) ther e being no la id out roa d from 
thence to the said Mill by means whereof the cu:,toma ry roa ds a re fre ­
quently turned a nd stopped t o the pre judice of the inhabitants in trans ­
porting their g r a in to the said mill and other places of market a nd pray­
ing the Court to order a roa d to be la id out in manner aforesaid . The 
court appo inted Andrew Work, Wm. McReily, Henry Hoover, Michael 
Groff, Henry H are and James Marshall to lay out such road by courses 
a nd distances if n eed be and make report. Nothing more appears of 
r ecord in the matter (2 D . 40*.) 

H. FRANK ESHLEMAN. 
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